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A letter from the Chairman

Dear shareholders, 

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Jordan Telecommunications Group 
(Orange Jordan), the Executive Committee and staff, I am pleased to 
welcome you to the 29th annual ordinary General Assembly meeting and 
to present to you the 2022 annual report, which covers the company’s 
performance, the consolidated financial statements, the governance 
report and disclosures, as well as the 2023 business plan. For the first 
time, the management will present in June a “Sustainability Report” as 
per the guidelines of the Jordan Securities Commission. 
We proudly achieved tremendous milestones in 2022. They include 
reinforcing our business model and financial performance, upscaling the 
solutions and services we provide to our dear customers and developing 
our digital channels.
Orange Jordan has maintained its leading position as a responsible 
digital provider, which allowed us to remain actively engaged in the 
National Economic Modernization Vision, which was launched under the 
patronage of His Majesty King Abdullah II.  Our deeply rooted values 
and the sincere efforts of our teams give us an advantage in setting the 
standards for enriching people’s lives and empowering other sectors to 
help driving the economic and social development of the country. 
We have sustained remarkable growth during 2022 with JD 347.6 million 
in revenues, while operational costs closed at JD 297.3 million, allowing 
us to make a net profit of about JD  4O million after taxes. We are 
keeping about JD 8 million in retained earnings to support financing the 
investment in 5G network this year 2023.
A key landmark of 2022 was the singing of an agreement with the 
Telecommunication Regulatory Commission (TRC) that served to 
reasonably address key issues as well as to resolve some contentious 
financial matters and license prices. This will enable us to provide 5G 
services.  The agreement also paves the way for a new era which will 
facilitate the national economy’s digital transformation; an ongoing 
process in which we are honored to be partners.  
The agreement has provided pillars for a clearer future for the sector and 
for Orange. Today  planning is based on higher levels of certainty. The 
TRC has laid down the cornerstone for the launch of 5G, which will surely 
make a big difference in the ICT sector, and will ultimately empower 
other sectors with the creation of new promising opportunities for our 
economy and for our youth. On this note, allow me, on your behalf, to 
salute H.E the Prime Minister, the Government, and the TRC.
Digital advancement is a key element in our services as we are no longer 
a traditional telecom operator.  In order for us to provide optimal state-
of- the- art services to our customers, we take preemptive measures 
to meet their expectations and their needs. We offer them exceptional 
customer care in every step we take through the launched digital assets; 

thus saving them time , effort and enhancing their experiences.  Jood 
application and the pioneering efforts undertaken to upgrade the E-shop, 
the Smart Life Solutions, Orange Money (which has become a leader in 
E-payments services in the Kingdom as part of our efforts to enhance 
financial inclusion) in addition to My Orange  (with a user portfolio of 
718,000). Those are some of the outcomes of the continued attention to 
Jordan’s digital advancement by the management and competent teams 
of Orange Jordan.  
Our contribution to strengthening economic growth has been embodied 
in our support to the business sector, where we do not stop at providing 
optimum digital solutions, but we take the extra step to avail our 
expertise to improve performance and productivity as an enabler of 
digital transformation.
Orange Jordan was visibly present in the highlights of 2022 business 
activities, contributing to the Kingdom’s digital acceleration.  Our efforts 
were recognized through the Tier III Operational Sustainability Golden 
Certificate: the first on the Kingdom’s level as well as on the level of 
Orange Group.  This achievement was made possible through the 
excellence, effectiveness, reliability and high quality work of our Data 
Centers. 
Our teams have also made considerable progress, having developed 
their digital skills, advanced their knowledge in tomorrow’s technologies 
and enjoyed a work environment where cooperation, teamwork, 
ambitious goals, excellence and sense of loyalty have prevailed. All of us 
at Orange Jordan are loyal to the company as well as to the brand.  The 
excellence that has characterized our work environment was rewarded 
with the Gender Equality European and International Standard (GEEIS) 
Certificate from Bureau Veritas for the second consecutive year. Also 
we are honored with the Diversity Certificate, obtained by Orange S.A.  
Additionally, we have obtained the ISO certificate for Safety, Occupational 
Health and Environment Management for the second consecutive time.
2022 once again has affirmed our capability to utilize technology to 
empower the youth; having succeeded in unlocking the youth’s potential 
through enhancing their skills, and reinforcing their experience in the 
accelerating digital domains so that they are ready for the job market 
and are equipped to kick-start their projects. Our free digital programs 
have expanded to 50 locations across the Kingdom. In parallel, we have 
provided online training, with a total of 12,000 certificates presented to 
the graduates since the launch of those programs.
As a testament to our continued efforts in empowering the youth, 85% 
of the graduates of the Coding Academy by Orange are now employed, 
while innovators have created 100 prototypes in the Fabrication Lab at 
Orange Digital Village.  In 2022, the Innovation Hub was inaugurated in 
the village, opening its doors to all those who wish to explore modern 
technologies-based innovations.  Furthermore, we now have nine 
business incubators and accelerators spread across the Kingdom, all 
with the aim of propping up our youth for innovation.
The achievements I have listed above manifest our sincere loyalty to 
our society, as we view our responsibility toward developing our youth’s 
capabilities and elevating their living standards as an unwavering 
obligation.
To close, I would like to thank the board members and Executive 
Committee, led by the CEO Mr. Thierry Marigny, as well as all the 
executive directors and employees. Achievements were only made 
possible through their efforts.  I also extend thanks and appreciation to 
the Ministry of Digital Economy and Entrepreneurship as well as to the 
TRC for their productive efforts in developing the sector and addressing 
its challenges.  My deepest gratitude goes to shareholders for their 
support and confidence in the board’s vision and performance.  Due 
appreciation also goes to Orange Group for its continued support for 
Orange Jordan. To our dear customers, I say thank you, I pledge to you 
our unstoppable best service. 
High expression of respect and commitment to the good of your 
company and that of Jordan.

Dr. Shabib Ammari
Chairman of Board of Directors

A letter from the CEO

Dear shareholders,

The year 2022 was one of transformational growth for us. We continued to 
provide unmatched experiences to over 3.7 million individuals and business 
customers, relying on our reinvented model, advanced networks, expert 
teams, and innovative digital solutions. 
For four years, we have been following our vision to be the responsible 
digital leader of the Kingdom, by offering the best digital environment to our 
customers, employees, and society.
We are transforming our revenue mix by consolidating our position as the 
best broadband provider and diversifying our revenue streams to be the 
multi-service telecom leader.
To achieve these objectives, we continue our persistent digital transformation 
to improve efficiency and customer experience. After returning to growth last 
year, we succeeded in improving our financial and operational performance, 
achieving a robust increase of our revenue by 4.2%, and EBITDAaL by 
22.6%.
Our FTTH (Fiber to the Home) share is the largest in the market. We are 
investing in our coverage in Amman, and at the same pace in the other major 
governorates of Jordan (Irbid, Zarqa, Aqaba, Salt, Madaba, and Karak). As 
we realize that Fiber is the ultimate broadband technology, we are also 
investing in our equipment to provide the best speed and Wi-Fi technology. 
These efforts led to Orange Jordan’s FTTH being awarded the fastest 
internet in Jordan for 2022 by the international website “SpeedChecker”. 
At the same time, we have trained 587 technicians and customer care 
employees in our Wi-Fi Campus, to ensure that our teams are specialists in 
providing the best home Wi-Fi services to our customers.
We are continuing to improve our Smart Life solutions, a range of smart 
electric devices for home, including external and internal cameras, PIR 
motion sensor, SOS emergency button, alarm systems, doorbells, as well 
as plugs that allow users to reduce their electricity consumption, etc. 
On the mobile front, I am proud to say that during this year, we launched 
the first-of-its-kind end-to-end digital experience through our new “jood” 
application to grant our mobile customers the convenience and freedom of 
choosing the lines that cater to their needs and interests.
In mobile money, we achieved milestones with Orange Money becoming 
Jordan’s number one PSP in the Kingdom, with more than 700,000 users, 
only 3 years after its launch. We launched international transfer services, 
enhancing customers’ experiences with improved services and becoming 
the first wallet in Metaverse by signing an agreement with LivaatVerse, the 
first Arab metaverse platform.
Over the last 12 months, we strongly increased the number of users of our 
mobile application, My Orange, and Orange Money, alongside enhancing 
our digital customer experience. We also developed Big Data/AI (Artificial 
Intelligence) environment, with new efficient use cases, as we have witnessed 
through the startups of the Orange AI incubator, allowing us to test, validate 
and explore AI models algorithms. Some of the AI environments covered 
areas in gaming through “Manzel” startup, healthcare with “Larimar”, 

and education and training where Kinda used AI in teaching writing in an 
interactive method.  
Reliable connectivity comes in parallel with our care for purposeful 
partnerships with businesses of all sizes operating across Jordan. Network 
management, hybrid cloud, AI-based solutions, and cyber security remained 
at the core of our B2B growth. We believe that with 5G, businesses are set 
to experience new use cases and novel ways to shape a more sustainable, 
responsible, and innovative future.
The year 2022 marks also the preparation of 5G network and operating 
model which will be the core of the future mobile business and technology 
for the upcoming years.
Moreover, we launched the first 5G pilot in our Boulevard shop and the 
Innovation Hub in Abdali, as we gear up for this advanced technology, 
taking the lead in fostering a culture of innovation in Jordan. We aspire to 
enrich these experiences even more with the 5G technology in the Kingdom.
In terms of network, we accommodated +30% on the internet fixed 
usages by upgrading our IP core, scaling up our direct interconnection 
with main content providers, and doubled the capacity of our content 
delivery platforms. We invested intensively in our mobile network capacity 
to accommodate +30% increase of the internet traffic by upgrading our 
RAN using a new spectrum allocation (on 4G 2100M).
Our work environment has witnessed leaps as well; we received the Gender 
Equality European & International Standard (GEEIS) for the second year and 
the standard’s diversity certificate for the first time. We empower our teams 
to nurture high levels of agility in all operations and remain an inclusive, 
caring, and result-oriented company. 
This year, our free digital programs have expanded to more than 50 locations 
in Jordan, where we train youth, women, and persons with disabilities to 
enhance employability and promote innovation as a cornerstone for aspiring, 
feasible projects. We can mention some notable, new examples, such as 
the Innovation Hub with our partner the European Union, Orange Digital 
Villages in Aqaba and Irbid, the online training platform Orange Coursat, 
and the “giglancing program” which supported more than 1,000 people. 
As a responsible digital leader, we are promoting a culture of innovation 
where everyone is empowered to explore unprecedented potentials of 
technology. Through the new 5G Lab and Innovation Hub, startups, 
businesses and even our employees can gain understating, experience, 
and create first-hand using 5G, AI, IoT, AR, VR, and Blockchain. Orange 
AI Incubator celebrated the graduation of the first cohort of projects, and 
our accelerator, BIG, expanded into new locations, while we remained 
committed to empowering women in entrepreneurship through the Amazing 
Woman award and inspiring Change through Digital World award. 
Our responsibility towards the community is accompanied by our 
commitment to the environment. Our comprehensive approach in adopting 
circular economy and ensuring energy efficiency is bringing us closer to 
our Group’s goal to reach zero carbon emissions by 2040. In 2022, we 
announced the Orange Forest, under the National Afforestation Project, as 
a new step to neutralize our carbon footprint and expand green spaces. Our 
three solar farms are producing 65% of our energy consumption. Reducing 
our CO2 emissions through energy-efficiency is at the core of ITN strategy; 
in early 2022, we succeeded to bring down the power consumption of our 
main 1 MW data center by 20%.
I would like to thank the members of the Board of Directors for their efforts, 
represented by the Chairman, Dr. Shabib Ammari, who is always a great 
visionary and supporter, and the executive management that went above 
and beyond to implement our strategy. I am very grateful to all our partners 
who are with us on a journey of transformation. To every employee, I would 
like to say thank you for being the driving force of excellence and progress, 
and I will continue to do all my best for you to find at Orange Jordan the 
conditions and level of trust necessary to perform and grow.
My appreciation goes to the Ministry of Digital Economy and Entrepreneurship 
and the Telecommunications Regulatory Commission. We are excited to 
achieve more for Jordan’s ecosystem with 5G technology.
Finally, I look forward to the future, promising to remain at the forefront 
of digital leadership to empower people and businesses and keep them 
connected to all that matters to them. 

Thierry Marigny
Chief Executive Officer
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Unlimited speeds for Fiber network

2022
FINANCIAL REPORT

Financial Report 2022

We are pleased to present Jordan Telecom Group’s (Orange Jordan) 2022 Annual Report, which provides an overview of our performance 
and business results for the year. The report highlights our ongoing progress and vital contribution to the development of information 
technology and communications in the Kingdom.

In 2022, the Jordan Telecom Group witnessed a 6.3% growth in retail market, a result of a strategic customer-centric approach and 
constant efforts to offer added value.
 
Our investment in fiber optics has expanded the broadband internet coverage, enabling users to enjoy a fast and reliable internet experience. 
As a leader in providing this service in Jordan, we continue to play a key role in enhancing social progress and contributing to the national 
economy, generating good revenues for our shareholders.

In August 2022, Orange Jordan signed a Settlement Agreement with TRC that became effective from 8/9/2022, Also we signed a 
5G agreement, which we hope to launch soon in Jordan. This new technology will accelerate digital transformation and provide more 
opportunities for IoT, smart cities, and industrial solutions.

As part of our commitment to remain at the forefront of technological advancement, Jordan Telecom Group is continuously adopting the 
latest technologies and presenting innovative solutions on a larger scale, thereby unleashing a world of possibilities.

Presented below is a summary of the consolidated results for 2022 against 2021.
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Consolidated income statement: 
(MJD) 2022 2021 Change %

Revenues 347.6 333.5 4.2%

Operating Expenses    

Cost of services -125.3 -116.7 7.4%

Administration expenses -26.1 -29.4 -11.5%

Selling and distribution expenses and provision for expected credit loss -44.7 -42.3 5.8%

Government revenue share -6.4 -4.6 40.5%

Business support fees -3.3 -3.3 0.0%

Brand fees -4.6 -4.6 0.7%

Depreciation and amortization -78.3 -77.2 1.3%

Depreciation of right-of-use assets -6.6 -6.5 0.7%

Depreciation of renewable energy lease assets -2.1 -2.1 0.0%

Total Operating expenses -297.3 -286.7 3.7%

Profit from operations 50.2 46.8 7.4%

 Operations margin 0.1 0.1 3.0%

Renewable energy lease interest expense -2.8 -3.0 -8.1%

Lease interest expense -2.4 -2.4 -0.4%

Net foreign exchange differences, finance costs and finance income  -4.6 -5.1 -9.4%

Other Income 22.4 2.0 1043.2%

Profit before Income tax 62.8 38.2 64.3%

Income tax expense -18.8 -12.1 55.2%

Profit for the year 44.0 26.1 68.5%

    

Attribute to:
Equity holders of parent

44.0 26.1 68.5%

Profit margin 12.7% 7.8% 61.7%

Earnings per share 0.23 0.14 68.5%

Weighted average number of shares (million shares) 187.50 187.50 0.0%
*The calculated variance may differ from the financials due to the rounding factor.
*The 2021 figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentations in 2022. Such reclassification does not affect previously reported 
profit or equity.

Summary of consolidated balance sheet: 
(MJD) 2022 2021 Change %

Assets    

Total Current Assets 187.5 181.8 3.1%

Property, and equipment 263.8 261.1 1.0%

Other non-current assets 291.3 257.6 13.1%

Total non-current assets 555.1 518.6 7.0%

Total assets 742.6 700.5 6.0%

Liabilities and equity   

Total current liabilities 262.3 276.0 -5.0%

Total non-current liabilities 181.8 143.1 27.1%

Total equity 298.4 281.4 6.1%

Total liabilities and equity 742.6 700.5 6.0%
Calculated variance may differ from the financials due to the rounding factor. 

Summary of consolidated cash flow statement: 
(MJD) 2022 2021 Change %

Net cash from operating activities 135.0 108.0 25.0%

Net cash used in investing activities -75.4 -55.5 35.9%

Net cash used in financing activities -57.5 -49.6 15.8%

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent 2.1 2.8 -26.9%

Cash and cash equivalents 7.2 3.8 88.0%
The calculated variance may differ from the financials due to the rounding factor. 
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Profit from operations Operating expenses 

(Million JD)

Revenue

20222021

333.5347.6

286.7297.3

46.850.2

Financial ratio analysis: 

2022 2021 Change %

Profitability Ratios

Return on Total Assets (ROA) 6.1% 3.8% 62.5%

Return on Total Equity 15.2% 9.4% 61.4%

Liquidity Ratios

Current Ratio 0.71 0.66 8.5%

Cash Ratio 0.25 0.21 18.1%

Leverage Ratios

Debt- Equity Ratio 148.9% 149.0% -0.1%

Interest- Bearing Debt ratio 8.5% 12.8% -33.5%

Debt Ratio 59.8% 59.8% 0.0%

Assets Coverage ratio 0.72 0.72 0.9%

Assets Management Ratios

Assets Turnover ratio 0.48 0.48 0.5%

Fixed Assets Turnover ratio 1.32 1.31 1.3%

Capital Turnover ratio 1.20 1.20 -0.2%

Price (Growth) Ratios

Proposed dividends 0.21 0.14 45.8%

Dividends pay-out ratio 89.4% 103.4% -13.5%

Dividends Yield 8.9% 6.7% 32.8%

Valuation Ratios

Book Value per Share 1.59 1.50 6.1%

Market to Book ratio 1.48 1.43 3.5%

Price-Earnings ratio 10.0 21.4 -53.2%

* Total Debt (Total Debt + Total Equity).

Revenues 
Group’s consolidated revenues increased by 4.2%, achieving JD 
347.6 million in 2022 compared to JD 333.5 million in 2021, mainly 
due to the growth in Fiber, mobile, and business services revenues.

Operating expenses 
The term Operating Expenses means the cost of services, 
administration expenses, selling and distribution expenses, 
provision for expected credit loss, government revenue share, 
business support fees, brand fees, depreciation, amortization, 
depreciation of right of use assets, and depreciation of renewable 
energy lease. The Group Operating Expenses increased by 3.7% 
to reach JD 297.3 million in 2022 against JD 286.7 million in 2021. 
The services’ cost kept Increased by 7.4%, reaching JD 125.3 
million in 2022 compared to JD 116.7 million in 2021, mainly due 
to higher customer equipment, network maintenance and Orange 
Money payment cost.
Administrative expenses decreased by 11.5% to reach JD 26.1 
million in 2022, compared to JD 29.4 million in 2021, mainly due to 
mainly due to lower sponsorship, legal fees and provisions.
Selling and distribution expenses and provision for expected 
credit loss increased by 5.8%, reaching JD 44.7 million in 2022, 
compared to JD 42.3 million in 2021 due to higher sales in telecom 
and financial services.
Government revenue share equals 6% of net revenue that Orange 
mobile is required to pay to the Telecommunications Regulatory 
Commission pursuant to the Mobile License Agreement. 
Government revenue share reached JD 6.4 million in 2022, 
increased by 40.5% from 2021 due to higher mobile revenues. 

Business support fees represent what the Group is required to pay 
to Orange Group under the business support agreement. Business 
support fees of the Group reached JD 3.3 million in 2022, the same 
amount as in 2021. 
Brand fees represent 1.6% of operating revenues that Jordan 
Telecom Group is required to pay to Orange Group for using the 
Orange brand in all Jordan Telecom Group subsidiaries. Brand 
fees of the Group reached JD 4.6 million in 2022, the same amount 
as in 2021.
Depreciation, amortization & impairment expenses increased by 
1.3% to reach JD 78.3 million in 2022, compared to JD 77.2 million 
in 2021. 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets increased by 0.7% to reach JD 
6.6 million in 2022, compared to JD 6.5 million in 2021. 
Depreciation of renewable energy lease represents the recognized 
liability toward solar farms project operator depreciated over the 
agreement period. 
Depreciation of renewable energy lease reached JD 2.1 million in 
2022, same in 2021.
 
Profit from operations
Profit from operations consists of sales of services, less total 
operating expenses, including depreciation and amortization, and 
depreciation of renewable energy lease.
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Renewable energy lease interest expense 
Renewable energy lease interest expenses refer to interest 
expenses on the Solar farms’ project lease liability. Renewable 
energy lease interest expenses decreased by 8.1% reached JD 
2.8 million in 2022 compared to JD 3.0 million in 2021. 

Lease interest expenses
Lease interest expenses refer to interest expense on the lease 
liabilities of Group premises and network site rentals for which 
the rent term is higher than 12 months. Lease interest expenses 
reached JD 2.4 million in 2022, the same amount as 2021.

Net foreign exchange difference, finance costs, and 
finance income
Net foreign exchange difference is generated from the Group’s 
transactions in foreign currencies and translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities. Finance costs consist of the interests and other 
charges, which are paid on the Group’s financial indebtedness. On 
the other hand, Finance income consists of income earned on cash 
deposits in various currencies. The total cost of the three entries 
decreased by 9.4% to reach JD 4.6 million in 2022, compared to 
JD 5.1 million in 2021. 

Other income 
Other income consists of gains and losses on dispositions of fixed 
assets and other miscellaneous income. Other income reached JD 
22.4 million in 2022, compared to JD 2.0 million in 2021 due to the 
settlement impact. 

Income tax 
In 2022 the Group reported JD 18.8 million as income tax, 
compared with JD 12.1 million in 2021. 

Profit for the year 
Jordan Telecom Group generated JD 44.0 million as net profit after 
tax for 2022, with an increase of 68.5%, compared to JD 26.1 
million in 2021. This increase came mainly due to higher revenues, 
higher margins, and the settlement impact.

Net variation in cash and cash equivalent 
Net cash flows from Operating Activities, the source of liquidity, 
increased by 25.0% to reach JD 135.0 million in 2022, compared 
to JD 108.0 million for 2021. 
Net cash flows used in Investing reached JD 75.4 million in 2022, 
compared to JD 55.5 million in 2021.
Net cash flows from Financing Activities reached JD 57.5 million 
used in 2022, compared to JD 49.6 million used in 2021. The 
increase is due to dividends paid in 2022

Cash and cash equivalent 
Cash and cash equivalent increased by 88% to reach JD 7.2 million 
in 2022 compared to JD 3.8 million in 2021.

Capital expenditures 
for Jordan Telecom Group reached JD 114.9 million at the end of 
2022, compared with JD 67.5 million at the end of 2021. 

Group subscribers 
Jordan Telecom Group subscribers showed an increase of 11.6% 
to reach 3.7 million lines in 2022, compared to 3.4 million lines 
in 2021, due to the increase in fiber, mobile, and Orange money 
base.

Human resources 
Jordan Telecom Group’s number of permanent contract employees 
decreased by 1.0%, from 1,594 in 2021 to 1,578 in 2022. The 
number of temporary contract employees decreased by 40.5%, 
from 111 in 2021 to 66 in 2022.

Staff efficiency 
The Group’s efficiency indicator increased by 5.2% to reach 
JD 220.3 thousand revenue per permanent employee in 2022 
compared to 209 thousand in 2021. The number of lines per 
employee reached 2,375 lines in 2022 compared to 2,149 lines in 
2021, showing an increase of 10.5% against 2021.

Group Business Segment analysis:

Presented below are the revenues for each business segment of the Group: 
 ■ Orange fixed and Orange internet 
 ■ Orange mobile 
 ■ Renewable energy 
 ■ Orange Money

(MJD) 2022 2021 Change%

Revenues    

Orange fixed & Orange internet 203.5 207.0 -1.7%

Mobile Communication 180.9 171.3 5.6%

Renewable energy 6.7 8.7 -23.1%

Orange Money 2.4 1.0 137.5%

Intercompany (45.9) (54.5) -15.7%

Total Revenues 347.6 333.5 4.2%
The calculated variance may differ from the financials due to the rounding factor.

Orange fixed and Orange internet 
Orange fixed services are the Group’s largest business segment despite the opening of the market to competition and entry of new fixed 
broadband service providers, such as; fiber internet service. 

Orange internet provides various services, such as; corporate internet leased lines, fixed internet service for residential and corporate, 
web-hosting, and ICT services. 

In addition to regular fixed calling services, Orange fixed provides high-speed fiber internet services for residential and corporate through 
its fiber-optic network, which covers areas throughout the Kingdom with competitive prices and high quality. 

Revenues (Orange fixed) and (Orange internet) 
Orange fixed and internet revenue decreased by 1.7% in 2022 compared to 2021 mainly due the drop in wholesale revenues despite the 
growth in retail broadband and business services revenues

Mobile communication (Orange mobile)
The Group’s mobile communication segment consists of the mobile communication products and services offered by Orange mobile, 
which was registered in September 1999, to build a new, highly advanced mobile communication network to serve the Kingdom. Orange 
mobile began commercial operations in September 2000 as the second provider of mobile services in Jordan. 

Revenues (Orange mobile)
Orange mobile witnessed an increase in revenues by 5.6%, compared to 2021. The increase was mainly due to the growth in voice, data, 
and equipment revenues.

Renewable energy
Renewable energy operations started in 2019 following the production of electricity from the solar farms’ project. 

Orange Money
Orange Money is a money transfer, payment, and financial services solution provided via an electronic account linked to an Orange mobile 
number.

Revenues (Orange Money)
Orange Money revenues witnessed an increase in 2022, reaching JD 2.4 million, compared to JD 1.0 million in 2021.
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2022
DISCLOSURE REPORT FOR 
THE YEAR 2022

Coding languages and rules designed 
for development and innovation

1. The services rendered by Jordan Telecom Group – Orange:

 ■ Fixed telephone service + Fiber.
 ■ Mobile services (voice + data).
 ■ Internet services (ADSL, FTTH).
 ■ Wholesale services.
 ■ Services dedicated to enterprises (B2B) (managed network services and other advanced services such as Data Center, Cloud, or 
Machine to Machine services).

 ■ Electronic Payment Services through Mobile Phone (Orange Money).
 ■ Development of Renewable Energy Projects.

 
Company’s locations and the number of employees in each area: 
Headquarter offices, Abdali, The Boulevard, Black Iris Street, Entrance 8, P.O. Box 1689, Amman 11118 Jordan.

Governorate No. of locations No. of employees
Headquarters 1  500
Amman  61  623
Ajloun  12 4
Irbid  56  83
Jerash  13  4
Al-Mafraq  37  17
Al-Balq’a  21 18
Madaba  9  12
Al-Zarqa  17  35
Al-Aqaba  13  22
Al-Karak  33  27
Ma’an  17  12
Al-Tafilah  12  6
Total  302  1,363

The amount of capital investment for Jordan Telecom in 2022 was JD 39,372,315 and JD 114,936,321for Jordan Telecom Group.

2. Subsidiaries:

All Subsidiaries Headquarter offices, Abdali, The Boulevard, Black Iris Street, Entrance 8, P.O. Box 1689, Amman 11118 Jordan

Name of the subsidiary Nature of business Capital JD Equity % No. of emp.
Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Co. Ltd.
(Orange Mobile)

GSM Operator 70,000,000 100%  219

Jordan Data Communications Co. Ltd. (Orange Internet) ISP 750,000 100%  28
Dimension Company for Digital Development of Data Ltd. 
(e-Dimension)

Development of Renewable 
Energy Projects

220,000 100%*  -**

Petra Mobile Payment Services Company (Orange Money)*****
Electronic Payment Services 

through Mobile Phone
5.000.000 100%***  34

Future Pioneers for Development and Initiatives Orange Foundation 15,000 100%****  -**
*The percentage of ownership for Dimension Company for Digital Development of Data Ltd. (e-Dimension) is 51% for Jordan 
Telecommunications Company and 49% for Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Co.
** the employees for e-Dimensions’ & Future Pioneers for Development and Initiatives became a part of Jordan Telecommunications 
Company’s staff.
*** Petra Mobile Payment Services Company is fully owned by Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Company.
**** Future Pioneers for Development and Initiatives is fully owned by Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Company.
***** The capital has been increased by JD 3 million to reach JD 5 million during December 2022, however, the registration of the new 
capital has finalized at Ministry of Industry and Trade during January 2023.
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3. a. Members of the Board of Directors:

H.E. Dr. Shabib Ammari
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
Date of birth: 22/2/1941
Dr. Shabib Ammari, the Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
Jordan Telecom Group - Orange Jordan since January 2000 till 
now. He was representing the Government of Jordan till 2006. Dr. 
Ammari was repeatedly elected as the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors representing Orange Group S.A. in the year 2006 and 
onward. He was re-elected on Oct 26, 2022, for a new term of 
four years.
 A Royal Decree included the appointment of His Excellency Dr. 
Shabib Ammari as a member of the Senate (10/2013 – 10/2016). 
During that period, he was Chairman of the Board of Orange Jordan. 
A Royal Decree included Dr. Shabib Ammari as Minister of Industry 
and Trade in His Majesty’s Government of H.E. Dr. Fayez Tarawneh 
from 5/2012 to 10/2012. When the Cabinet resigned to pave the 
road for Parliamentary elections, Dr. Ammari rejoined the Board of 
Directors on 24/10/2012 and was elected as the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors on that date and till now. 
Dr. Ammari was Deputy Chairman of the Board of Trustees of 
the Royal Scientific Society (H.R.H. Prince Al-Hassan Bin Talal 
Chair). He was on the Board of Trustees of PSUT for seven years, 
a member of the Higher Privatization Council, the Economic 
Dialogue Committee, the Board of Trustees of King Hussein Bin 
Talal University, and the Board of Directors of the Arab Jordan 
Investment Bank. 
Dr. Ammari holds a Ph.D. in Economics (1980) from the University 
of Southern California (USA), where he worked as a Senior Lecturer. 
He also was a lecturer in economics at Calif. State University at 
Long Beach and California State Polytechnic University at Pomona 
until 1985, after which he returned to Jordan and worked in the 
private sector in the capacity of CEO.

Mrs. Mireille EL Helou
Vice-Chairperson of the Board of Directors
Date of birth:22/10/1969
Mrs. Mireille El Helou has a globe-spanning history working in the 
ICT industry.
She held different executive roles since joining the Orange 
Group in 2001, including Director of Sourcing and Supply Chain 
Transformation between 2007 and 2010, Director of Orange 
Middle East and Africa Sourcing & Supply Chain between 2010 
and 2013, and Chief Business Market Officer and acting CEO of 
Orange Telkom Kenya between 2013 and 2016.  
From 2016 to 2019, as the General Manager of Orange Réunion 
& Mayotte,  she led the telco operations with a team of more than 
1000 employees, launching the best 4G network, accelerating 
the FTTH deployment and achieving network leadership, and 
spearheading the digital transformation.
More recently, she was the CEO of Orange Silicon Valley in San 
Francisco, leading a multi-disciplinary team and scouting the US 
innovation ecosystem to inform the strategy and business of the 
Orange Group.
Prior to joining Orange, Mireille worked in sales and marketing for 
almost a decade. She holds a Mechanical Engineering degree from 
the American University of Beirut.
Mireille was appointed Senior Vice President of MENA and Safety 
at Orange Middle East and Africa on September 1, 2021, while 
overseeing governance and fostering cooperation across the 
region to create value. She is on the Board of Directors of Orange 
Jordan, Orange Egypt, and Orange Tunisia.

Mr. Bisher Jardaneh
Member of the Board of Directors 
Date of birth: 13/3/1961
Mr. Bisher Jardaneh is currently a member of the Board of Directors 
of Orange Jordan. He is also the Executive Chairman of Arabtech 
Jardaneh Group.
Mr. Jardaneh is the  Chairman of Arab Cultural Society (Al Raed Al 
Arabi School), Board member of Jordan Strategy Forum to which 
he is a founder and earlier two terms vice-chairman.
Formerly, he served for fiteen years as  the Chairman of Invest 
bank, a member of the Royal committee of  “Kulluna Al Urdun,” 
the Royal Commission for Jordan’s Water Strategy, the Executive 
Committee of the International Federation of Consulting Engineers 
(FIDIC) / Geneva, The Chairman of Taawon Association (Geneva), 
the Social Security Investment Fund (SSIF) board, Greater Amman 
Municipality’s Council as the head of its Financial Committee, the 
Board of Trustees of Princess Sumaya University for Technology. 
He also held the position of the Chairman of the National Resources 
Investment and Development Corporation, Vice Chairman of the 
Abdali Investment and Development Company, the Chairman 
of the Abdali Boulevard Company, the Chairman of Al Daman 
for Development Zones Company, Chairman of Architects and 
Engineers Business Council (AEBC) and a Member of Jordan’s 
National Agenda Committee.
He is also a member of the Young Presidents Organization (YPO), 
Jordan Engineers Association, Jordan Businessmen Association 
and Jordan European Business Association.
Mr. Jardaneh holds a bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering from 
the University of Illinois, and a master’s degree in Construction 
Management from the University of California, Berkeley.

Mr. Abdallah Abu Jamous 
Member of the Board of Directors 
Date of birth: 30/1/1977
Mr. Abdallah Abu Jamous,is a member of the Board of Directors 
of Jordan Telecom Group - Orange since August 2017. Currently, 
he serves  as an advisor to the Director General for Planning Affairs 
at the Social Security Corporation. He previously occupied the 
Strategic Planning Director post at the Social Security Corporation. 
And prior to that he held the position of the Director of Human 
Resources Department.
Mr. Abdallah Abu Jamous holds a master’s degree with honor 
in Management Information Systems from Al Balqa Applied 
University and a bachelor’s degree in Accounting from Yarmouk 
University. Additionally, he earned several professional certificates, 
including Certified Internal Business Agility Assessor, Certified 
Project Management Professional Certification (PMP), Certified 
Risk Management Professional Certification (PMI - RMP) from the 
American Project Management Institute PMI, Certified Strategic 
Planner (CSP) from the American Accredited Consultants Institute, 
and Quality Assessment Certification (EFQM Assessor) from the 
European Organization for Quality Management. 
Mr. Abu Jamous was named as the Best Employee in the Hashemite 
Kingdom of Jordan for the year 2012 (The Best Employee Award 
issued from the Civil Service Bureau).
 

Mrs. Dorothée Vignalou
Member of the Board of Directors 
Date of birth: 2/1/1970
Mrs. Dorothée Vignalou is currently a member of the Board of 
Directors of Orange Jordan and the Deputy Chief Financial Officer 
of Orange Middle East and Africa. Prior to that, she was the Head 
of Central Controlling of Orange Business Services from Jan. 2014 
– March 2018. She was the Head of Controlling Solutions and 
Referential at Orange Group Finance from Sep. 2003 - Dec. 2013. 
She previously held the position of Consultant then Project Manager 
at France Telecom Finance Division from Sep. 1994 - Aug. 2003. 
Mrs. Vignalou graduated from Sciences Po Paris with a master’s 
degree in Economics & Finance Section in 1993.

B. G. Eng. Haitham H. Baker 
Member of the Board of Directors 
Date of birth: 19/3/1972
B.G. Eng. Haitham H. Baker is a telecommunication engineer with 
more than thirty-two years of experience in the operational and 
executive management of telecommunications technologies and 
services, with practical experience in network planning, operation, 
& management, in addition to his experience in the development of 
telecommunications policies.
B. G. Eng. Haitham is an active-duty Brigadier General in 
Jordan Armed Forces (JAF), serving as Special Communication 
Commission (SCC) Director General, which is responsible for 
providing the telecommunications infrastructure for Jordan Armed 
Forces through its microwave network deployed all over the whole 
Kingdom, in addition to providing mobile radio communication, 
data, and video transmission services the Jordan Armed Forces 
and the public safety & security agencies.
B. G. Eng. Haitham joined Jordan Armed Forces in 1990, and 
among the most important positions he held during his military 
service were, Commandant of A-Sharif Nasser Signal College, 
Chief of C2 Department in Royal Signal Corps (RSC) Directorate 
as well as Commander of GHQ Communication level 3 Workshop.
During his military career, Engineer Haitham participated in 
many advanced training courses locally and abroad, related to 
multiple professional topics such as: information system, tele-
communication technology, administrative and military skills 
including:
*Senior management course.
*Strategic leadership course.
B. G. Engineer Haitham holds a bachelor’s degree in Electrical 
Engineering / Communications from Mutah University, also holds 
Master’s degree in Computer Engineering / Embedded Systems 
from Yarmouk University.
B. G. Engineer Haitham participated in many workshops and 
seminars at the national level and is also the head of many technical 
committees.

Mr. Brelotte Ba
Member of the Board of Directors 
Date of birth: 8/9/1976
A graduate of the Ecole Polytechnique and the Ecole Nationale 
des Ponts et Chaussées in Paris, Brelotte Ba joined the Orange 
Sonatel Group in 2001, where he successively held four positions 
as General Manager at Orange: in Guinea Bissau between 2008 
and 2011, in Niger between 2012 and 2017, in Guinea between 
2017 and 2018 and finally in Mali between 2018
and 2022.
Building on this experience in Sub-Saharan Africa, in his last position 
as General Manager in Mali, Brelotte focused on accelerating the 
deployment of fixed and mobile broadband networks, which led 
to more than 90% of the Malian population now being covered by 
4G, while simultaneously deploying fiber networks for FTTH offers.
He also made digitalization a priority for Orange Mali, in particular 
by simplifying the customer experience for Orange Money, and 
for new diversification offers such as energy and IT services. In 
July 2021, the subsidiary began building a 25 MWp solar farm in 
collaboration with the Malian Electricity Company (EDM), which 
will make it the first remote self-production project in Sub-Saharan 
Africa. In 2021, Orange Mali experienced strong growth (11.4%) 
and these amazing achievements earned Brelotte the CEO of the 
Year award at AfricaCom 2021.
On July 1, 2022, Brelotte Ba will appointed Deputy CEO of Orange 
Middle East and Africa, which has 18 subsidiaries and provides 
services to over 137 million customers.

Mr. Jérôme Hénique
Member of the Board of Directors 
Date of birth: 27/11/1969
Mr. Jérôme Hénique has over 25 years of experience in the 
ICT field, during which he worked in a diverse array of markets 
spanning France, Spain, Senegal, and Jordan, cultivating an 
extensive experience in the management of international teams, 
P&L management, and telecom market development.
Prior to being appointed in 2018 as Deputy CEO - Chief Operating 
Officer of Orange Middle East and Africa, he joined Orange Jordan 
as CEO in September 2015. He worked as Deputy CEO of 
SONATEL Group — an Orange subsidiary based in Dakar covering 
four countries in West Africa — between 2010 and 2015. Where he 
also served as Chairman and a member of several of the Group’s 
boards. 
Before joining SONATEL, Mr. Hénique served as Group Chief 
Marketing Officer at Orange between 2009 and 2010, leading the 
international marketing team in Paris, London, and New York and 
becoming a member of the Orange Executives Network.
He also acted as Chief Marketing Officer of the Consumer Market 
at Orange France between 2006 and 2009. Where he led the 
operator’s marketing operations and successfully consolidated 
broadband market share in France. 
Mr. Hénique also worked as Chief Marketing Officer of Wanadoo 
Spain from 2000 until 2003, managing the company’s nationwide 
marketing operations, and as Chief Marketing Officer of Wanadoo 
Group from 2003 to 2006. 
Mr. Hénique has an MBA in Management of Network Business 
from ENSPTT in Paris and a BA in Economics, Marketing, and 
Finance from the Paris Institute of Political Studies. He followed as 
well the 2021 Stanford Executive Program.
*His term as a member of the Board of Directors ended on 
26/10/2022.
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B. G. Dr. Eng. Hisham Khraisat
Member of the Board of Directors 
Date of birth: 25/12/1965
B. G. Dr. Hisham Khraisat is a telecommunication engineer with 
more than thirty years of experience in the operational and executive 
management of telecommunications technologies and services, 
with practical experience in network planning, network operations 
management, and telecommunications policy development.
B. G. Dr. Hisham Khraisat is an active-duty Brigadier General 
in Jordan Armed Forces, serving as Special Communication 
Commission (SCC) General Director, in addition to serving as 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees & Director General of the 
RCSSTEWA.
B. G. Dr. Hisham joined the Jordan Armed Forces in 1984, where 
he has held many leadership and administrative positions during 
his military career, such as; Royal Signal Corps (RSC) Director, 
Commandant of A-Sharif Nasser C3 Military College, Signal 
Assessor (Inspector & Evaluator) at the Inspector General’s Office, 
Chief of Encryption Branch at RSC Directorate, Commandant of C4I 
Center at RSC Directorate, Commander of GHQ Communication 
level 3 Workshop, Supply and Procurement staff Officer at C3, 
Instructor at A-Sharif Nasser C3 Military College. UN Military 
Observer & Staff Officer as Communications & Training Officer.
B. G. Dr. Khraisat holds a Ph.D. degree in Management Philosophy 
from the World Islamic Science and Education University (WISE), 
also holds a master’s degree in computer science engineering / 
Embedded Systems from Yarmouk University. His bachelor’s 
degree is in Electrical Engineering / Telecommunications from 
Mu’tah University.
B. G. Dr. Khraisat is a member of the Board of Directors of 
Jordan Telecom Group - Orange Jordan, in addition to holding 
the position of Chairman of the Board of Trustees and Director 
General of the Regional Center for Space Science and Technology 
Education for Western Asia, and he was one of the commissioners 
in Telecommunication Regulatory Commission (TRC). Also, he is 
the Head of the Communication and Electronics Committee for 
Standards & Metrology at the national level, and he is ahead of 
many technical committees’ strategy at the JAF HQ level.
B. G. Dr. Khraisat has published many scientific and technical 
research in the international magazines, in addition to publishing 
many papers and books in Human Resources and Management 
fields.
*His term as a member of the Board of Directors ended on 
26/10/2022.

3.b. Top management (Executives):
 
The management is in charge of managing the day-to-day work of 
Orange Jordan and its subsidiaries.

Mr. Thierry Marigny
Chief Executive Officer of Orange Jordan 
Date of birth: 15/4/1963
With more than 30 years of experience in the ICT sector, Thierry 
Marigny has worked in a diverse array of global markets across 
Europe, Middle East, and Africa, cultivating robust expertise in 
Global management, marketing, strategic planning, and corporate 
communication. He is currently as the CEO of Orange Jordan 
since 2018, Marigny had deep experience in the development of 
telecommunication operators. Most recently, he served as the 
Deputy CEO of SONATELGroup — an Orange subsidiary based in 
Dakar, covering five countries in West Africa. In addition to his most 
recent tenure, he served as CEO of Orange Tunisia, Deputy CEO 
of Cellis (Lebanon), Chief Marketing Officer of Orange Belgium, 
Orange’s Global Brand Vice President, Orange Vice President of 
Marketing for Mobile Services. 
Among his other past experiences and achievements, he has a 
strong understanding of the Digital Ecosystem, as he served as the 
Founder and CEO of Cityneo: A Paris-based start-up focused on 
mobile applications and location-based services.
Marigny holds a master’s degree in Marketing and Finance from 
Dauphine University in Paris. He is also a graduate of the Institute 
Mines-Télécom Business School in France, where he attained a 
master’s degree in Telecommunications Management.

Mr. Raslan Deiranieh
Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
Chief Financial and Strategy Officer 
Date of Birth: 17/11/1963
Mr. Raslan Deiranieh is the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and the 
Chief Financial and Strategy Officer of Jordan Telecom Group – 
Orange Jordan, In charge of Compliance & Ethnic and Network 
Information Security. He joined Jordan Telecom in 1998 as a 
Treasury Director. 
Before that, Mr. Deiranieh served as head of the Foreign Investments 
Section at the Central Bank of Jordan. 
Mr. Deiranieh is currently a Board Member in the Central Bank 
of Jordan, and a Board Member of JAMA (Jordan Association 
of Management Accountants). He is also the Chairman of the 
e-Dimension Company 
He was previously a Board Member in Safwa Islamic Bank, a Board 
Member of Jordan Data Communications Co, Chairman of Light 
Speed Company based in Bahrain, and the Chairman of the Petra 
Mobile Payment Service Co. 
He has previously represented the Social Security Corporation 
on the Board of Directors of Jordan Press Foundation (Al-Rai 
Newspaper) and the Board of Jordan Steel Company.
Mr. Deiranieh holds a bachelor’s degree in Accounting and Computer 
Science with honors from Al-Yarmouk University (1985) as well as 
the award of Scientific Excellence from the same university, and 
the Distinguished Graduates award. Mr. Deiranieh holds a master’s 
degree in Accounting from the University of Jordan (1992) and has 
a certificate of Finance and Controlling Management from ESCP 
Business School (2008) / Orange- Program.
 

Eng. Sami Smeirat
Chief Enterprise Officer 
Date of birth: 13/4/1971
Mr. Smeirat has held the position of CEO of Jordan Data 
Communication Company Ltd. since 2007, in addition to his 
position as the Chief Enterprise Officer that provides services of 
telecommunications solutions (mobile, internet, and fixed) for the 
public and private sectors in the Jordanian market. In 2003, he was 
the Chief Executive Officer of Wanadoo, until it was re- branded to 
Orange Internet.
He also led the exclusive partnership with Equant as their distributor 
in Jordan, and the re-branding of Global One to Wanadoo. Prior to 
that, he was the co-founder of Cyberia Jordan in 2001, in which 
he worked as the deputy CEO and Chief Commercial Officer. He 
also worked as the Corporate Sales Manager at Global One since 
1996, before managing Consumer and Corporate Sales since 
1999 and Teaching and Research Assistant at the University of 
Jordan for two years. He also was a former board member of 
Zara Investment Holding, as well as a former board member of 
Lightspeed Communications (Bahrain).
Recently he was appointed as Representative of the Social Security 
Corporation at the Board of the Jordan Phosphate Mines Company. 
This new role is added to many leading roles that he holds and 
continues to carry out successfully, including the chairman of Petra 
Company for Mobile Payment Services, and being a member of 
the Board of Directors of Cairo Amman Bank, the International 
Data Center Authority (IDCA), the National Cyber Security Council 
(representing the private sector), and Princess Sumaya University 
for Technology’s Board of Trustees, also a board member of 
Sodetel.
In addition, he is holding the position of Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of the Nippon Jordan Fertilizer Company, and a board 
member in Edama Company. 
Mr. Smeirat holds a BSc in Electrical Engineering from the University 
of Jordan and a master’s degree in Communications Engineering, 
as well as an MBA in Business Administration from NYIT.

Eng. Waleed Al Doulat 
Chief Wholesale Officer
Chief Information Technology & Networks Officer 
Date of birth: 2/5/1966
Mr. Waleed Al Doulat has held the position of Chief Wholesale 
Officer of Jordan Telecom Group - Orange Jordan since 2010, 
from July 2016. Mr. Al-Doulat has been assigned the role of Chief 
Information Technology & Networks Officer, in addition to his 
current position as Chief Wholesale Officer. 
In 1992, he joined the Jordan Telecom Group as an Operation and 
Maintenance Transmission   Engineer, where he worked his way up 
to his current position. 
Mr. Al-Doulat received his BSc degree in Electrical Engineering/ 
Telecommunications from the Jordan University of Science and 
Technology (JUST) in 1989. Following his graduation, he worked at 
the same University as a Teaching Assistant until late 1991.

Dr. Ibrahim Harb
Chief Legal, Regulatory, Sourcing and Supply Chain Officer 
Chief Human Resources Officer
Date of Birth: 17/5/1961
Dr. Ibrahim Harb has held the position of Chief Legal, Regulatory, 
Sourcing, Supply Chain, and Human Resources Officer of Orange 
since July 2020.
Prior to that, Dr. Harb was the Chief Human Resources Officer 
of Orange Jordan, adding to Chief Legal, Regulatory, Sourcing, 
Supply Chain Officer (March 2020- July 2020).
Prior to that, Dr. Harb was the Chief Legal, Regulatory, Sourcing, 
and Supply Chain Officer of Orange Jordan (2017-2020).
 Prior to that, Dr. Harb was the Chief Legal, Regulatory and Sourcing 
Officer of Orange Jordan (2014 – 2017). He was the Chief Legal and 
Regulatory Officer of Orange Jordan (2010 - 2014) and the Legal 
and Regulatory Director of Orange Jordan (2005 - 2010). Prior to 
that, he had held in 2004 the position of Acting Human Resources 
Officer at Jordan Telecom and was the Training Manager and the 
Training Center Manager (1999 - 2004) at Jordan Telecom. 
Dr. Ibrahim holds a Ph.D. in Communications Engineering

Mrs. Naila Al Dawoud
Chief Consumer Market Officer 
Date of Birth: 3/4/1968
Naila Al Dawoud has held the position of Chief Consumer Marketing 
Officer since July 2017. Mrs. Al Dawoud has more than 27 years 
of experience at Orange Jordan and Orange Group in the core 
disciplines of the telecommunication and marketing sectors. Her 
career path took a different turn after 12 years of experience at 
the IT sector to explore new challenges in the commercial and 
marketing field. 
Prior to becoming Chief Consumer Marketing Officer, Mrs. Al 
Dawoud worked as Marketing Director for 7-years. 
Prior to that, she occupied many managerial positions at Orange 
Jordan and Orange France. In 2006, her experience was enriched 
by managing multi ITN-Programs within Network Carrier & IT sector 
at Orange Group in France.  
Mrs. Al Dawoud holds a bachelor’s degree in computer science 
from Yarmouk University. In addition, an Application Engineer 
Diploma (Design, Communication, and Development) from Centre 
of the International Cooperation for Computerization (CICC) – 
Tokyo, Japan.

Mr. Samer Al Haj
Chief Consumer Sales Officer 
Date of Birth: 27/8/1976
Samer Al-Haj has been appointed as Chief Consumer Sales Officer 
on the 1st of July 2017. Mr. Haj has more than 22 years of relevant 
experience in the telco industry, during which he held a variety 
of managerial positions that have enriched his experience in the 
telecommunication sector. 
Prior to being appointed as Chief Sales Consumer Officer, Mr. Al 
Haj worked at Orange Jordan as the Sales Director for 6-years. He 
previously occupied many managerial positions with Viva Bahrain 
and Zain Jordan. Through which his leadership and ability to 
develop a successful business, set up commercial operations, and 
develop distribution strategies has been proven.
He holds a bachelor’s degree in educational sciences from the 
University of Jordan and a Telecom Mini MBA from Telecoms 
Academy
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Mr. Jallale Bassou
Deputy Chief Information Technology and Networks Officer 
Date of Birth: 15/3/1974
Mr. Jallale Bassou joined Orange Jordan and the Executive 
Committee (Excom) as the Deputy Chief Information and Network 
officer in October 2019.
Jallale is in charge of the digital and data factory, operations, 
budget controlling and operational efficiency programs.
With over 12 years experience in key managerial positions such as 
IT, network, engineering and operations, Jallale has been in charge 
of major transformation projects through my different positions, 
acquiring a large experience in telecom & IT.
Jallale designed and implemented a strategy keeping the Capex 
and Opex/Revenue ratio stable, also designing and implementing 
major transformation program as outsourced activities, automation
From 2015 to 2019, Mr. Bassou served as the Senior Director at 
Orange Morocco leading the transformation of operations activities 
and technical customers experience. Prior to that and from 2009, 
he was a Director in charge of new roll out and technical operation 
activities in Orange Tunisia. From 2002 to 2009, Mr. Bassou joined 
Oreedoo Tunisia as an Engineering Manager to the IT Director 
within the technical area. 
He had originally started his career as part of the Orange Group’s 
subsidiaries in Europe and South America
Mr. Bassou is a graduate in Electronic and Telecommunication 
Engineering from Nancy University in France.

Mr. Wilfried Yver
Chief Digital, Data, Innovation & Money Officer
Date of Birth: 21/2/1972
Mr. Wilfried Yver has over 20 years of experience in 
telecommunications and digital services, and global marketing 
and sales practice. He joined the Orange Group in 1998 and then 
joined Orange Jordan in December 2020 as a Chief Digital, Data, 
Innovation & Money Officer.
Previously Yver occupied several positions in Orange Innovation 
– Orange Middle East and Africa (OMEA), Orange Wholesale, and 
Orange Business services Divisions. 
Wilfried Yver has vast international experience and knowledge and 
was notably Vice President MVNO and VISP Business Line for 
Orange Horizons, conducting international business developments 
missions over 4-continents. He was also a Chief Marketing Officer 
and Orange Money Chief Officer for Orange Mali and served as a 
Chief Internet, B2B, and Wholesale officer for Orange Botswana.
Yver holds two master’s degrees; an MBA from Anderson College, 
University of New Mexico, with a major in Finance and Strategic 
Marketing, and a Master of Business from Normandy Management 
School, focusing on International Business.

Eng. Rana Al Dababneh
Chief Corporate Communication and Sustainability Officer 
Date of Birth: 6/7/1979
Eng. Rana Al Dabaneh has more than 20 years of experience in 
telecom and ICT, in areas of marketing, product development, 
project management, public relations, corporate communication, 
and sustainable social corporate responsibility.
She held many positions in Orange Jordan, as she was assigned 
to oversee the outsourcing call center project at Orange Jordan 
(Jordan Telecommunications at the time), in addition to partnerships 
with public and private sectors for two years, and later the role of 
Marketing Manager in the company’s internet provider (Wanadoo 
at that time), which contributed to the integration of the ISP with 
Jordan Telecom Group and its rebranding to Orange in 2007.
Eng. Al Dababneh joined the enterprise business unit to take over 
the development of products such as corporate internet solutions, 
fixed lines, mobiles, and integrated managed services, in addition 
to operational marketing, until she became the Marketing Director 
of the unit in 2009.
She was appointed Director of the Project and Performance 
Management Office for the Group from 2012-2015, where she 
assumed the responsibility of defining the company’s strategic 
goals and ensuring their achievement, as well as managing the 
governance and delivering the company’s projects.
In 2016, Eng. Al Dababneh was assigned to lead the Department 
of Public Relations, Social Responsibility and Corporate 
Communication in Orange Jordan, working under the direct 
management of the CEO. In July 2021, she was appointed Deputy 
Chief PR, CSR, and Corporate Communication Officer, where she 
extensively manages public relations, corporate communication, 
and the company’s image and brand, as well as the company’s 
CSR programs that make a positive impact on the lives of more 
than 20,000 beneficiaries. She is also a member of Orange Jordan’s 
Executive Committee.
In July 2022, Eng. Rana was promoted to be the Corporate 
Communication and Sustainability Chief Officer at Orange Jordan 
as a separate unit in the company.
Before joining Orange Jordan, Eng. Al Dababneh worked as a 
consultant in Philadelphia Consulting Group between 2001 and 
2002. Eng. Al Dababneh holds a Bachelor’s degree of Science 
in Industrial Engineering from the University of Jordan, with a 
minor specialization in Management, alongside many certificates 
such as Board Member Certificate offered by the International 
Finance Corporation from the Institute of Jordanian Directors, 
Executive Marketing Program Certificate from INSEAD and Project 
Management Professional Certificate from PMI.

4. The names of shareholders who own 5% or more of the capital as of 31st of December 2021 and 2022:

Shareholders No. of shares Shareholding
% (2021)

No. of shares Shareholding
% (2022)31.12.2021 31.12.2022

Joint Investment Telecommunications Co. 95,624,999 51% 95,624,999 51%
Social Security Corporation 54,150,000 28.88% 54,150,000 28.88%

Noor Telecommunications Holding Company Limited 17,437,794 9.30% 10,415,397 5.55%

Total 167,212,793 89.18% 160,190,396 85.43%

5. The competitive situation of the company:

After the exclusive rights termination on the 1st of January 2005, the TRC issued individual and class licenses for fixed line services to 
several companies. Additionally, the mobile telecommunication service has affected the company’s market share in the local market.

The company’s share of the total domestic market:
Orange fixed services   >90% 
Orange mobile services 30-35% 
Orange internet services 40-45%

6. The degree of dependence on specific resources:

The Jordan Telecom Group purchased more than 10% of the total purchases from:
Nokia (16.6%)
Huawei (15.4%)

There is no reliance on major local and/or external clients who make up 10% or more of total revenue.

7. The privileges enjoyed by the company:

Jordan Telecom does not enjoy any privileges and does not hold any patent. On the other hand, Jordan Telecom has the right to use the 
brand name of “Orange.”

8. The decisions of the Government:
 
No decisions were issued by the Government, international organizations, or others, which have a material effect on the Group’s business, 
products, or competitive ability. According to the license issued to it.

The Group complies with international quality standards and applies the following Quality standards:
- Data Center Uptime Tier III Design Certificate.
- Data Center Uptime Tier III Constructed Facility Certificate.
- ISO 14644 Cleanroom data center standard certificate for three data centers with 9-certificates.
- ISO 14001 Environmental Management standard Certificate.
- ISO/IEC 27001 Information Security Management standard compliance.
- ISO 50001 - Energy Management Systems standard compliance.
- ANSI/TIA-942 Telecommunications Industry Association Standard compliance.
- EN50600 Data center facilities and infrastructures standard compliance.
- PCI DSS Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard compliance.
- ASHRAE American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers standard compliance.
- Data center Uptime III operation sustainability -Gold
- Accredited Sustainability Advisor   
- GEEIS (Gender Equality European & International Standard).
- UN WOMEN – Women Empowerment Principles (WEPS)
- COPC – Customer Operations Performance Center.
- ISO 45001 -2017 Occupational health & safety.
- ISO 14001 -2015 Environmental.
- EFQM Excellence Model - Recognized for Excellence(R4E) - 4-stars.
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9.b The number of employees and type of qualifications:

qualification
Jordan

Telecom 
(Orange Fixed)

Petra Jordanian Mobile 
Tel. Com.

(Orange Mobile)

Jordan Data 
Communication Co. 

(Orange Internet)

Petra Mobile Payment 
Services Company 

(Orange Money)

Doctorate (PhD) 5 0 0 0

Master’s 64 19 5 1

High Diploma 2 0 0 0

BA 930 184 23 33

Diploma 227 10 0 0

Tawjihi 32 3 0 0

Below Tawjihi 103 3 0 1

Total 1,363 219 28 34

9.c Training programs during 2022:
No. Description Number of trainees

1 Financial courses & HR  296

2 Management courses  2,833

3 Marketing & sales courses 1,139

4 project management, supply chain & Quality courses  4

5 Technical courses  4,402

6 Computers courses 261

7 Language courses  44

10. The risks to which Jordan Telecom Group is exposed:
Jordan Telecom Group faces risks of competition from mobile telecommunications and other telecom companies that serve fixed-line 
services.

11. The achievements realized by the company:
The achievements were mentioned in Jordan Telecom Group results.

12. The operations of infrequent nature during 2022:
During January 2022, Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Company  (subsidiary of Jordan Telecommunications Company) 
Group has been notified by the Telecommunications Regulatory Commission (TRC) of the Prime Minister decision which have been issued 
on December 29, 2021, aiming to develop integrated reform bundle “to restructure the Telecom Sector”, while taking into consideration 
the appropriate solutions to remedy the confronted challenges and obstacles which will contribute in Increase the investment in telecom 
infrastructure expansion /development, internet services, broadband services and technologies, in addition to support penetration growth, 
usage variety to serve individuals and enterprises, and digital economy support, where the telecom companies represent one of the most 
important success pillars to complete the digital transformation in addition to introducing 5G technologies roll out in the Kingdom, which 
will produce a quantum leap in the economic growth and Increase the sector job opportunities. The agreement has been signed on August 
11, 2022 and became effective from September 6, 2022. The agreement and its financial impact are detailed in note 28 to the attached 
financial statements.

13. The time series of profits, distributed dividends, shareholders’ equity, and shares prices issued by the 
company for five years:

 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Profits in (JD) 21,307,063 19,044,843 17,502,121 26,124,291 44,031,028

Distributed dividends (JD) 21,500,000 15,000,000 18,750,000 27,000,000 *39,375,000

Dividends % 11.46% 8% 10% 14.4% 21%

Shareholder’s equity in (JD) 273,936,814 271,481,657 273,983,778 281,358,069 298,389,097

Shares prices (JD) 1.39 1.44 1.47  2.14 2.35
* Proposed dividend in 2022.
14. The analysis of the financial position of Jordan Telecom Group:
The financial analysis was included in the consolidated financial and statistical highlights.

15. Future otlook:
This part is mentioned in “The future vision of the Group”.

16. The remuneration of the external auditor of the company and its subsidiaries during 2022:
The Company Auditing remuneration (JD)

Jordan Telecommunications Co. (Orange Fixed) 37,500

Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Co. Ltd. (Orange Mobile) 37,500

Jordan Data Communications Co. Ltd. (Orange Internet) 4,500

Dimension Company for Digital Development of Data Ltd. (e-Dimension) 5,000

Petra Mobile Payment Services Company (Orange Money) 8,000
Future Pioneers for Development and Initiatives 2,000

17. The shares owned by the members of the Board of Directors and top management:
None of the members of the board of directors owned shares, except for H.E. Dr. Shabib Ammari – Chairman who owns 1-share.

None of the top management members owned shares or any company controlled, nor their relatives except for Mr. Raslan Deiranieh, who 
owns (21,500) shares.
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Statement of the members of the Legal Entities Board of Directors, their representatives, and the ownership of each one of them.

No. BOD Status Position Nationality
No. of 

shares as of 
31/12/2021

No. of 
shares as of 
31/12/2022

Ownership and companies 
under their control

1
Joint Investment 
Telecommunications Co. 
represented by

Legal 
entity

Jordanian 95,624,999 95,624,999
Has no ownership or control 
in other companies owning 

shares in the Company

1.1 H.E. Dr. Shabib Ammari
Chairman of 

the BoD
Jordanian 1 1

Has no ownership or control 
in other companies owning 

shares in the Company

2.1 Mrs. Mireille El Helou
Vice-

Chairperson 
of the BoD

French - -
Has no ownership or control 
in other companies owning 

shares in the Company

3.1 Mr. Brelotte BA
Member of 

the BoD
Senegalaise - -

Has no ownership or control 
in other companies owning 

shares in the Company

4.1 Mrs. Dorothée Vignalou
Member of 

the BoD
French - -

Has no ownership or control 
in other companies owning 

shares in the Company
Mr. Jérôme Hénique
*His term as a member of the 
Board of Directors ended on 
26/10/2022.

Member of 
the BoD

French - -
Has no ownership or control 
in other companies owning 

shares in the Company

2
Social Security Corporation 
represented by

Legal 
entity

Jordanian 54,150,000 54,150,000
Has no ownership or control 
in other companies owning 

shares in the Company

1.2 Mr. Abdallah Abu Jamous
Member of 

the BoD
Jordanian - -

Has no ownership or control 
in other companies owning 

shares in the Company

2.2 Mr. Bisher Jardaneh
Member of 

the BoD
Jordanian - -

Has no ownership or control 
in other companies owning 

shares in the Company

3

Government of the Hashemite 
Kingdom of Jordan / 
Jordanian Armed Forces 
represented by

Legal 
entity

Jordanian 8,625,000 3,000,001
Has no ownership or control 
in other companies owning 

shares in the Company

1.3 Brigadier General Eng. 
Haitham Baker

Member of 
the BoD

Jordanian - -
Has no ownership or control 
in other companies owning 

shares in the Company
Brigadier General Dr. 
Engineer Hisham Khraisat
*His term as a member of the 
Board of Directors ended on 
26/10/2022.

Member of 
the BoD

Jordanian 375 375
Has no ownership or control 
in other companies owning 

shares in the Company

Top management (Executives): 

Name Position Nationality
No. of shares as 
of 31/12/2022

Ownership and companies under their 
control

Mr. Thierry Marigny
Chief Executive Officer of Orange 
Jordan 

French 0
Has no ownership or control in other 

companies owning shares in the Company

Mr. Raslan Deiranieh
Deputy Chief Executive Officer/
Chief Financial and Strategy 
Officer

Jordanian 21,500
Has no ownership or control in other 

companies owning shares in the Company

Mr. Sami Smeirat Chief Enterprise Officer Jordanian 0
Has no ownership or control in other 

companies owning shares in the Company

Mr. Waleed Al 
Doulat

Chief Wholesale Officer/Chief 
Information Technology and 
Networks Officer

Jordanian 0
Has no ownership or control in other 

companies owning shares in the Company

Dr. Ibrahim Harb
Chief Legal, Regulatory, Sourcing 
and Supply Chain Officer/ Chief 
Human Resources Officer

Jordanian 0
Has no ownership or control in other 

companies owning shares in the Company

Mrs. Naila Al 
Dawoud

Chief Consumer Market Officer Jordanian 0
Has no ownership or control in other 

companies owning shares in the Company

Mr. Samer Al Haj Chief Consumer Sales Officer Jordanian 0
Has no ownership or control in other 

companies owning shares in the Company

Mr. Jallale Bassou
Deputy Chief Information 
Technology and Networks Officer

French 0
Has no ownership or control in other 

companies owning shares in the Company

Mr. Wilfried Yver
Chief Digital, Data, Innovation & 
Money Officer 

French 0
Has no ownership or control in other 

companies owning shares in the Company
Mrs. Rana Al 
Dapbabneh

Chief Corporate Communication 
and Sustainability Officer 

Jordanian 0
Has no ownership or control in other 

companies owning shares in the Company

18. The remunerations and rewards in 2022 for the members of the Board of Directors and for the top 
management members were:

No. BOD
Committees’ 
remuneration 

Transportation
Annual BOD 
remuneration 

2021
Travel Total

1 H.E. Dr. Shabib Ammari 107,800 7,200 5,000 1,575 121,575

2 Mrs. Mireille El Helpu* 6,000 7,200 1,035 0 14,235

3 Mr. Bisher Jardaneh** 6,000 7,200 5,000 525 18,725

4 Mr. Brelotte BA* 0 1297 0 0 1297

5 B.G. Eng. Haitham Baker 1,097 1,316 0 0 2,413

6 Mr. Abdallah Abu Jamous** 6,000 7,200 5,000 525 18,725

7 Mrs. Dorothée Vignalou* 6,000 7,200 5,000 0 18,200

8 M. Jérôme Hénique* 0 5,903 5,000 0 10,903

9 B.G. Dr. Eng. Hisham Khraisat 5,000 6,000 5,000 525 16,525

10 Mr. Taieb Belkahia 0 0 1,514 0 1,514

11 Mr. Anis Hamdani 0 0 2,451 0 2,451

Total 137,897 50,516 35,000 3,150 226,563
*All amounts are paid to Orange Group.
**Remuneration, commissions, and mobility allowances were paid to the Social Security Corporation.
 Number of Board meetings during 2022 (6).

Paid amount to top management:
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Name. Name Salary
Additional 
granting

Distributed 
EOS 

indemnity
Bonus Transportation Travel Others Total

1 Mr. Thierry Marigny 69,063 0 0 0 0 1,698 0 70,761

2 Mr. Raslan Deiranieh 157,200 32,750 13,100 140,717 9,600 360 2,861 356,588

3 Mr. Sami Smeirat 126,636 26,382 10,553 126,314 9,600 725 2,470 302,680

4 Mr. Waleed Al-Doulat 120,000 25,000 10,000 70,247 9,600 2,340 2,199 239,386

5 Dr. Ibrahim Harab 120,000 25,000 10,000 118,918 9,600 1,896 2,199 287,613

6 Mrs. Naila Al Dawoud 96,000 20,000 8,000 57,970 9,600 2,040 0 193,610

7 Mr. Samer Haj 84,000 17,500 7,000 49,147 9,600 1,434 0 168,681

8 Mr. Jallale Bassou 84,000 0 0 18,361 2,400 1,620 0 106,381

9 Mr. Wilfried Yver 30,000 0 0 0 0 1,200 0 31,200

10 Mrs. Rana Al Dababneh 64,827 13,506 5,402 36,501 9,600 1,008 0 130,844

 Total 951,726 160,138 64,055 618,175 69,600 14,321 9,729 1,887,744

19. Donations and grants:
No. Donations to Amount

1 Wagf Thareed 100,000

2 The General Trade Union of Workers in Public Services & Free Occupations 93,000

3 Madaba Municipality 40,000

4 The social committee for the employees of the Ministry of Digital Economy & Entrepreneurship 33,600

5 Al Zarq Municipality 30,000

6 Jarsh Municipality 27,509

7 Hashemite Municipality 20,000

8 Al-Ardah Municipality 5,000

9 Retired JTG Clup Association 3,000

10 Educational and Cultural donations 2,386

11 Charity Al-Nahama Abna’a Society 1,500

12 Al-Amal Charity 1,000

13 Jameat Abnaa Alaghwar Lreaet Alaytam Wakebar Alsen alkhaeriah 800

14 Southern badia Center for Training Awareness and Voluntary Work 800

Total 358,595
*The above amounts are the total donations, without including sponsorships.

20. The contracts concluded by the company with a subsidiary, sister, and affiliated companies:

There is a management agreement between Orange Jordan and Orange Group. Also, several agreements were signed between the 
company and its subsidiaries in daily, normal business conduct.

There are no contracts, projects, or engagements entered into by the company with the Chairman of the Board of Directors, members of 
the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, or any company employees or relatives thereof.

21. The company’s key contributions in the areas of environmental preservation and community service:

2022 Achievements: digital developments that empower everyone 

Orange Jordan, the responsible digital leader, moved ahead in its digital empowerment mission inside and outside the company, through 
strategic partnerships with various sectors, to continue offering the latest technologies, powered by its advanced infrastructure, with a 
social and economic impact extending across the kingdom. 

Digital solutions and innovation
The year 2022 witnessed developments in several digital solutions: 

 ■ Signing an agreement with the Telecommunications Regulatory Commission (TRC) to prepare for the launch of 5G network and 
conducting the first pilot in Abdali and the Innovation Hub. 

 ■ Launching the Orange 5G lab, the first of its kind in Jordan. 
 ■ Signing an agreement with Egypt Telecom, connecting Iraq to Europe.
 ■ Launching jood Orange app for an integrated digital experience.
 ■ Renewing the telecoms services agreement with the Jordanian Armed Forces. 
 ■ Holding two events for enterprises, the first for the service sector and the second for banking.
 ■ Launching campaigns for home internet solutions and end of the year.
 ■ Signing an agreement with Roya Kids to offer content suitable for children.

Quality and reliability
The company’s leading efforts were recognized, including: 

 ■ Recognition from the Crown Prince for its efforts in the national vaccination campaign. 
 ■ The Fastest Fixed Internet - Fiber in Jordan for the year 2022 certificate from SpeedChecker. 
 ■ Tier III Gold Certification of Operational Sustainability. 
 ■ GEEIS certificate for the second consecutive year. 
 ■ Two ISO certificates for “Occupational Safety and Health Administration” and “Environment”.
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Orange Money mobile wallet 
Orange Money had a remarkable impact by facilitating digital financial transactions and supporting financial inclusion in line with the Jordan 
Central Bank’s vision, achieving many milestones such as:

 ■ Obtaining users’ trust and becoming the leading PSP in Jordan thanks to its reliability, safety, and number of financial transactions that 
continue to grow.

 ■ The first mobile wallet to enter the metaverse through LivatVerse Platform. 
 ■ Signing various agreements with various institutions. 

Digital inclusion and education 
Thousands of young men and women participated in Orange’s free digital programs, especially under the “Innovation Space” project co-
funded by the European Union (EU), and Orange Digital Center in partnership with the German Agency for International Cooperation (GIZ), 
universities and other entities:

BIG by Orange and the AI Incubator 
 ■ Launching Season 9 of the Business Innovation Startups’ Growth Platform (BIG) in partnership with the Information and Communications 
Technology Association of Jordan (int@j). 

 ■ Sponsoring the participation of 3 projects in the Jordanian Innovation, Tech & Entrepreneurship forum at Dubai Expo. 
 ■ Supporting 5 startups to attend VivaTech conference in Paris. 
 ■ The first cohort of Orange AI Incubator graduation and the second cohort onboarding. 
 ■ Supporting the Social Entrepreneurship Mapping project in Jordan. 

Coding Academies and School 
 ■ Expanding Orange Coding Academy program to Balqa, Zarqa, Irbid and Aqaba, to train more young men and women, with the 
employment rate reaching 80% of the graduates.

 ■ Launching the Data Science Academy. 
 ■ Orange Coding Academy’s employment rate reached 85% in Amman with the conclusion of third cohort. 
 ■ The Coding School trained more than 200 students between the ages of 9 and 17 on programing languages. 

Orange Digital Fabrication Lab 
 ■ Empowering 90 young men and women through the Mobile FabLab, in addition to the fourth cohort graduation at the Hashemite 
University and concluding its tour in Madaba. 

 ■ The graduation of the first cohort specialized in drones, launched this year, from the Orange FabLab.
 ■ Establishing a FabLab at the Hashemite University and at the Orange Digital Villages in Irbid, Balqa, and Aqaba. 

Digital and social competitions
 ■ Launching the Inspiring Change through Digital World award for women. 
 ■ Announcing the sixth local edition of the Orange Social Ventures Prize (OSVP). 
 ■ Sponsoring the “Deal with My Topic Objectively” media competition for persons with disabilities.
 ■ Launching the first Orange Summer Challenge for university students and honoring the winners.  
 ■ Supporting 3 startups in the Towards Digital and Sustainable Media program. 
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Youth, education, and entrepreneurship
 ■ Launching Orange Coursat, a free online digital training platform. 
 ■ Launching The Studio at Orange Digital Village in Amman.
 ■ Honoring Tawjihi top achievers nationwide, children of employees and journalists, and students with disabilities in partnership with the 
Higher Council for the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. 

 ■ Launching the giglancing program, that provided training for more than 1,000 young men and women. 
 ■ Expanding the reach of Orange’s free programs with the inauguration of Orange Digital Village in Aqaba and Irbid, each comprising 
Coding Academy, FabLab and BIG.  

 ■ Supporting digital programs in Balqa in partnership with the Vocational Training Corporation and the EU. 

Universities
 ■ Signing an agreement with the German Jordanian University to launch the Dual Studies Program.
 ■ Inaugurating Orange Digital Center Club at the German Jordan University in partnership with GIZ. 
 ■ Providing scholarships for 5 more years for top bachelor’s and master’s students in Princess Sumaya University for Technology. 
 ■ Renewing the agreement with Yarmouk University to provide students with the needed skills. 

Supporting our community
We have a great responsibility towards our community. Moreover, we believe in our active role in the special occasions, events, and 
interesting experiences. Some of 2022’s highlights include:

 ■ Continuing the partnership with Jordan Basketball Federation. 
 ■ Participating in the Women on the Frontlines conference. 
 ■ Participating in Al Abdali’s 76th Independence Day Celebration. 
 ■ Continuing support for the community through various campaigns and Ramadan charitable activities. 
 ■ Supporting the Clothes Bank’s campaign for children’s education. 

Becoming a green company 
Preserving the environment remains one of Orange Jordan’s priorities, with many initiatives including:

 ■ Adopting circular economy, continued efforts to reduce CO2 emissions through the company’s Solar Farms, and implementing 
practices to enhance energy efficiency and reduce consumption of resources. 

 ■ Implementing part of Orange Forest in Jerash, under the National Afforestation Project.
 ■ Offering the platinum sponsorship for the Solid Waste Management competition during the Environment Week. 
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AI is now a reality, not a dream

2022
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Confirmation
1. The Board of Directors confirms that there are no substantial matters which may affect the continuation of the company in the next 
fiscal year.

2. The Board of Directors confirms its responsibility for the preparation of the financial statements and the provision of an effective control 
system in the company.

Member of the BoardVice ChairpersonChairman of the Board

Mr. Brelotte BAMrs. Mireille El HelouH.E. Dr. Shabib Ammari

Member of the BoardMember of the BoardMember of the Board

Mr. Abdallah Abu Jamous Mr. Haitham Baker

 

Mr. Bisher Jardaneh

Member of the Board

Mrs. Dorothée Vignalou

3. We, the undersigned below, confirm the accuracy and completion of the information and statements set out in the report. 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer Chief 

Financial Officer
Chief Executive OfficerChairman of the Board

Mr. Raslan DeiraniehMr. Thierry MarignyH.E. Dr. Shabib Ammari
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Governance Report 

We are pleased to present to you the Corporate Governance Report for 2022, which summarizes the information and details regarding 
the implementation of the Corporate Governance Rules and Regulations in accordance with the provisions of Article (17), of the Listed 
Corporate Shareholding Companies’ Regulations of 2017 issued by the Jordan Securities Commission.
 
Members of the Board of Directors:

No. Board of Directors Status Position

Names of public 
shareholding 

companies to which 
the board member 

is serving as a board 
member therein

1 Joint Investment Telecommunications Co. represented by:
Legal 
entity

H.E. Dr. Shabib Ammari (Attended all meetings).
Chairman of the 

Board of Directors
Mrs. Mireille El Helou (Attended all meetings). Vice-Chairperson
Mrs. Dorothée Vignalou (Attended Five meetings and was absent one  
meeting).

Member of the 
Board of Directors

Mr. Brelotte Ba (attended one meeting and was absent one meeting).
* He was named a member of the Board of Directors on 26/10/2022.

Member of the 
Board of Directors

Mr. Jérôme Hénique (Attended Three meetings and was absent one 
meeting).
* His term as a member of the Board of Directors ended on 26/10/2022.

Member of the 
Board of Directors

2 Social Security Corporation Represented by:
Legal 
entity

Mr. Bisher Jardaneh (Attended all meetings).
Member of the 

Board of Directors

Mr. Abdallah Abu Jamous (Attended all meetings).
Member of the 

Board of Directors

3
Government of the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan /Jordanian Armed 
Forces Represented by:

Legal 
entity

Brigadier General Engineer Haitham Baker (attended all meetings).
* He was named a member of the Board of Directors on 26/10/2022.

Member of the 
Board of Directors

Brigadier General Dr. Engineer Hisham Khraisat (Attended all meetings).
* His term as a member of the Board of Directors ended on 26/10/2022.

Member of the 
Board of Directors

* All the board members are non-executive. 
* The Board Members are not independent. However, the representatives of the Board Members are independent with respect to the  
   restriction on owning 5% or more in the Company’s subscribed shares or in any of its subsidiaries or affiliates.
* No member in the board of directors is currently a member of any public shareholding companies in Jordan.
* Number of Board meetings during 2022 (6). 

Members of the Executive Committee: 

Executive Committee

Mr. Thierry Marigny Chief Executive Officer of Orange Jordan 

Mr. Raslan Deiranieh Deputy Chief Executive Officer/Chief Financial and Strategy Officer

Mr. Sami Smeirat Chief Enterprise Officer

Mr. Waleed Al Doulat Chief Wholesale Officer/Chief Information Technology and Networks Officer

Dr. Ibrahim Harb Chief Legal, Regulatory, Sourcing and Supply Chain Officer/ Chief Human Resources Officer

Mrs. Naila Al Dawoud Chief Consumer Market Officer

Mr. Samer Al Haj Chief Consumer Sales Officer

Mr. Jallale Bassou Deputy Chief Information Technology and Networks Officer

Mr. Wilfried Yver Chief Digital, Data, Innovation & Money Officer 

Mrs. Rana Al Dapbabneh Chief Corporate Communication and Sustainability Officer 

Corporate Governance Liaising Officer Mr. Emad Saadat Jalal Al-Kayyali

Committees emanating from the Board of Directors:

 ■ Audit Committee

 ■ Remuneration and Nomination Committee

 ■ Corporate Governance Committee

 ■ Risk Management Committee
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Members of the Audit Committee: 
Members 
of the Audit 
Committee

Brief description of the qualifications and experiences related to financial and accounting matters
Number of 
meetings 
attended

Mrs. 
Dorothée 
Vignalou
(Chairman 
of the 
Committee)

Mrs. Dorothée Vignalou is currently a member of the Board of Directors of Orange Jordan and the Deputy 
Chief Financial Officer of Orange Middle East and Africa. Prior to that, she was the Head of Central Controlling 
of Orange Business Services from Jan. 2014 – March 2018. She was the Head of Controlling Solutions 
and Referentials at Orange Group Finance from Sept. 2003 - Dec. 2013. She previously held the position 
of Consultant then Project Manager at France Telecom Finance Division from Sept. 1994 - Aug. 2003. 
Mrs. Vignalou graduated from Sciences Po Paris with a Master’s degree in Economics & Finance Section 
in 1993.

4

Mr. Abdallah 
Abu Jamous

Mr. Abdallah Abu Jamous,is a member of the Board of Directors of Jordan Telecom Group - Orange since 
August 2017. Currently, he serves as an advisor to the Director General for Planning Affairs at the Social 
Security Corporation. He previously occupied the Strategic Planning Director post at the Social Security 
Corporation. And prior to that he held the position of the Director of Human Resources Department.
Mr. Abdallah Abu Jamous holds a master’s degree with honor in Management Information Systems from 
Al Balqa Applied University and a bachelor’s degree in Accounting from Yarmouk University. Additionally, 
he earned several professional certificates, including Certified Internal Business Agility Assessor, Certified 
Project Management Professional Certification (PMP), Certified Risk Management Professional Certification 
(PMI - RMP) from the American Project Management Institute PMI, Certified Strategic Planner (CSP) from 
the American Accredited Consultants Institute, and Quality Assessment Certification (EFQM Assessor) 
from the European Organization for Quality Management. 
Mr. Abu Jamous was named as the Best Employee in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan for the year 2012 
(The Best Employee Award issued from the Civil Service Bureau).

4

Mrs. Mireille 
El Helou

Mrs. Mireille El Helou has a globe-spanning history working in the ICT industry.
She held different executive roles since joining the Orange Group in 2001, including Director of Sourcing 
and Supply Chain Transformation between 2007 and 2010, Director of Orange Middle East and Africa 
Sourcing & Supply Chain between 2010 and 2013, and Chief Business Market Officer and acting CEO of 
Orange Telkom Kenya between 2013 and 2016.  
From 2016 to 2019, as the General Manager of Orange Réunion & Mayotte,  she led the telco operations 
with a team of more than 1000 employees, launching the best 4G network, accelerating the FTTH 
deployment and achieving network leadership, and spearheading the digital transformation.
More recently, she was the CEO of Orange Silicon Valley in San Francisco, leading a multi-disciplinary 
team and scouting the US innovation ecosystem to inform the strategy and business of the Orange Group.
Prior to joining Orange, Mireille worked in sales and marketing for almost a decade. She holds a Mechanical 
Engineering degree from the American University of Beirut.
Mireille was appointed Senior Vice President of MENA and Safety at Orange Middle East and Africa on 
September 1, 2021, while overseeing governance and fostering cooperation across the region to create 
value. She is on the Board of Directors of Orange Jordan, Orange Egypt, and Orange Tunisia.
Mrs. Mireille El Helou was replaced by Mr. Brelotte Ba as a member of Audit Committee on 26/10/2022

4

Mr. Brelotte 
Ba

Mr. Brelotte Ba a graduate of the Ecole Polytechnique and the Ecole Nationale des Ponts et Chaussées in 
Paris, Mr. Brelotte Ba joined the Orange Sonatel Group in 2001, where he successively held four positions 
as General Manager at Orange: in Guinea Bissau between 2008 and 2011, in Niger between 2012 and 
2017, in Guinea between 2017 and 2018 and finally in Mali between 2018 and 2022.
Building on this experience in Sub-Saharan Africa, in his last position as General Manager in Mali, Mr. 
Brelotte focused on accelerating the deployment of fixed and mobile broadband networks, which led to 
more than 90% of the Malian population now being covered by 4G, while simultaneously deploying fiber 
networks for FTTH offers.
He also made digitalization a priority for Orange Mali, in particular by simplifying the customer experience 
for Orange Money, and for new diversification offers such as energy and IT services. In July 2021, the 
subsidiary began building a 25 MWp solar farm in collaboration with the Malian Electricity Company (EDM), 
which will make it the first remote self-production project in Sub-Saharan Africa. In 2021, Orange Mali 
experienced strong growth (11.4%) and these amazing achievements earned Mr. Brelotte the CEO of the 
Year award at AfricaCom 2021.
On July 1, 2022, Mr. Brelotte Ba was appointed Deputy CEO of Orange Middle East and Africa, which has 
18 subsidiaries and provides services to over 137 million customers.

Number of meetings of the Audit Committee during 2022: (4).
Number of meetings of the Audit Committee during 2022 with External Auditors: (4). 

Members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee: 
Members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Mr. Bisher Jardaneh (Chairman of the Committee): (Attended all meetings).

Mrs. Mireille El Helou: (Attended all meetings).

Br. Gen. Engineer Haitham Baker (Appointed on 26/10/2022).

Br. Gen. Dr. Engineer Hisham Khraisat: (Attended all meetings).
Number of meetings of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee during 2022: (2).
 

Members of the Corporate Governance Committee: 
Members of the Corporate Governance Committee

Mrs.Mireille El Helou (Chairman of the Committee): (Attended all meetings).

Mr. Bisher Jardaneh: (Attended all meetings).

Br. Gen. Engineer Haitham Baker (Appointed on 26/10/2022). 

Br. Gen. Dr. Engineer Hisham Khraisat: (Attended all meetings).
Number of meetings of the Corporate Governance Committee during 2022: (2). 

Members of the Risks Management Committee: 
Members of the Risks Management Committee

Mr. Abdallah Abu Jamous (Chairman of the Committee): (Attended all meetings).

Mrs. Dorothée Vignalou: (Attended all meetings).

Mrs. Mireille El Helou (Attended all meetings).
* Number of meetings of the Risks Management Committee during 2022: (2).

* The Company works to ensure full compliance with all laws, regulations and instructions issued by the official authorities (Ministry of 
Industry and Trade/Companies Controller Department, the Securities Commission and Amman Stock Exchange), including all provisions 
of the governance directive and corporate governance codes, as well as full compliance with the disclosure requirements and publication 
of its business outcomes through the Company’s website, which includes the annual report and the resolutions of the general assembly 
meetings, and ensures disclosure to the Jordan Securities Commission and Amman Stock Exchange through the XBRL disclosure system.

 

Chairman of the Board
H.E.Dr. Shabib Ammari
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JORDAN TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY
(PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY)
AMMAN – THE HASHEMITE KINGDOM OF JORDAN 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Note
December 31,

2022
JD

2021
JD

ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Property and equipment 6 263,801,987 261,089,827
Intangible assets 7,28 215,056,774 181,168,572
Contract assets 23.b 703,693 682,732
Right-of-use assets 8.a 37,495,804 35,743,046
Renewable energy assets 9 34,231,733 36,344,076
Deferred tax assets 10.c 3,774,489 3,617,663
Total Non-Current Assets 555,064,480 518,645,916
Current Assets
Inventories 11 12,384,499 10,159,951
Trade receivables and other current assets 12 106,822,769 109,429,998
Balances due from telecom operators 13 1,568,512 2,446,234
Contract assets 23.b 2,550,946 2,448,638
Cash and short-term deposits 14 64,320,009 57,327,137
Total Current Assets 187,646,735 181,811,958
TOTAL ASSETS 742,711,215 700,457,874

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ Equity
Paid in capital 15 187,500,000 187,500,000
Statutory reserve 16 62,500,000 62,500,000
Retained earnings 17 48,389,097 31,358,069
Total Shareholders’ Equity 298,389,097 281,358,069
Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Telecommunications license payable 18 49,716,597 47,940,704
Other telecommunications license payable 28 51,177,610 -
Interest bearing loans 19 14,206,652 27,696,332
Lease liabilities 8.b 34,853,389 32,895,496
Renewable energy liability 9 31,470,175 34,071,756
Contract liabilities 23.c - 19,098
Employees’ end of service benefits 20 416,679 458,966
Total Non-Current Liabilities 181,841,102 143,082,352
Current Liabilities
Orange Money - units in circulation 21 14,922,325 8,936,368
Trade payables and other current liabilities 22 124,131,328 158,570,223
Balances due to telecom operators 13 21,762,344 18,445,529
Income tax payable 10.b 17,401,231 12,548,210
Other telecommunications license payable 28 5,189,166 -
Current portion of interest bearing loans 19 13,499,085 13,493,719
Due to banks 14 42,067,901 43,112,473
Lease liabilities 8.b 6,254,047 5,749,642
Renewable energy liability 9 5,971,327 4,498,282
Contract liabilities 23.c 11,257,771 10,575,894
Employees’ end of service benefits 20 24,491 87,113
Total Current Liabilities 262,481,016 276,017,453
TOTAL LIABILITIES 444,322,118 419,099,805
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 742,711,215 700,457,874

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE AUDIT REPORT.
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JORDAN TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY
(A PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY)
AMMAN – THE HASHEMITE KINGDOM OF JORDAN 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Note
For the Year Ended December 31,

2022
JD

2021
JD

Net revenue 5&23,a 347,567,876 333,464,646

Direct operating cost (125,319,187) (116,735,605)

Gross Margin 222,248,689 216,729,041

Administrative expenses (26,056,199) (29,434,638)

Selling and distribution expenses (44,120,146) (41,256,391)

Government revenue share 24 (6,449,952) (4,592,106)

Business support fees and brand fees 25 (7,842,328) (7,811,925)

Expected credit losses 12&13 (600,000) (994,755)

Depreciation of property and equipment 6 (57,719,620) (53,083,268)

Amortization of intangible assets 7,28 (20,535,906) (24,134,582)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8.a (6,589,489) (6,544,041)

Depreciation of renewable energy assets 9 (2,112,343) (2,112,343)

Operating Profit 50,222,706 46,764,992

Net foreign currency exchange differences 324,388 186,768

Leases interest expense 8.b (2,434,103) (2,443,427)

Finance costs renewable energy assets 9 (2,762,968) (3,007,594)

Finance costs on Banks’s loans (4,761,141) (4,897,836)

Finance cost of telecommunications license 18 (1,775,893) (1,775,893)

Finance cost of other telecommunications license 28 (300,276) -

Finance income 1,932,847 1,431,922

Gain on sales of property and equipment 3,485,407 1,955,374

Other income 28 18,868,256 -

Profit before Income Tax 62,799,223 38,214,306

Income tax expense 10.a (18,768,195) (12,090,015)

Profit for the Year 44,031,028 26,124,291

Other comprehensive income - -

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 44,031,028 26,124,291

Earnings per share JD/Fils JD/Fils

Basic and diluted earnings per share 26 0.235 0.139
THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE AUDIT REPORT.

JORDAN TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY
(PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY)
AMMAN – THE HASHEMITE KINGDOM OF JORDAN 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Note
Share
Capital

JD

Statutory
Reserve

JD

Retained
Earnings

JD

Total 
Shareholders’ 

Equity
JD

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Balance at January 1, 2022 187,500,000 62,500,000 31,358,069 281,358,069

Total comprehensive income - - 44,031,028 44,031,028

Dividends 17 - - (27,000,000) (27,000,000)

Balance at December 31, 2022 187,500,000 62,500,000 48,389,097 298,389,097

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Balance at January 1, 2021 187,500,000 62,500,000 23,983,778 273,983,778

Total comprehensive income - - 26,124,291 26,124,291

Dividends 17 - - (18,750,000) (18,750,000)

Balance at December 31, 2021 187,500,000 62,500,000 31,358,069 281,358,069
THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE AUDIT REPORT.
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JORDAN TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY
(PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY)
AMMAN – THE HASHEMITE KINGDOM OF JORDAN 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Note
For the Year Ended December 31,

2022
JD

2021
JD

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Profit before income tax 62,799,223 38,214,306
Adjustments for:
Finance costs on Bank’s loans 4,761,141 4,897,836
Finance cost of telecommunications license 18 1,775,893 1,775,893
Finance cost of other telecommunications license 28 300,276 -
Finance income (1,932,847) (1,431,922)
Leases interest expense 8.b 2,434,103 2,443,427
Finance costs on renewable energy assets 9 2,762,968 3,007,594
Provision for expected credit losses 12&13 600,000 994,755
Provision for slow moving inventories 11 - 100,000
Depreciation of property and equipment 6 57,719,620 53,083,268
Amortization of intangible assets 7,28 20,535,906 24,134,582
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8.a 6,589,489 6,544,041
Depreciation of renewable energy assets 9 2,112,343 2,112,343
Employees’ end of service benefits 20 48,096 81,157
Reversal of revenue share provisions 28 (18,868,256) -
Gain from sale of properties and equipment (3,485,407) (1,955,374)
Cash Flows from Operations before Changes in Working Capital 138,152,548 134,001,906
Decrease (increase) in assets:
Contract assets (123,269) (18,913)
Inventories (11,235,351) (12,244,856)
Trade receivables and other current assets 2,015,917 (14,878,560)
Balances due from telecom operators 877,722 (187,714)
(Decrease) increase in liabilities:
Trade payables and other current liabilities (256,377) 13,366,947
Balances due to telecom operators 3,316,815 (6,295,202)
Other telecommunications license payable 5,189,166 -
Contract liabilities 662,779 2,754,882
Employees’ end of service paid 20 (153,005) (58,599)
Cash Flows from Operating Activities before Income Tax Paid 138,446,945 116,439,891
Income tax paid 10.b (12,483,966) (8,471,133)
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 125,962,979 107,968,758
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Purchases) of property and equipment 6 (53,120,239) (57,019,786)
(Purchases) of intangible assets 7 (20,225,936) (1,979,104)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 5,184,669 2,280,559
Finance income received 1,767,333 1,236,485
Net Cash Flows (used in) Investing Activities (66,394,173) (55,481,846)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
Repayment of interest-bearing loan (13,459,334) (13,467,724)
Payments on capital reduction (29,942) (62,525)
Finance costs paid (4,761,141) (4,897,836)
Dividends paid (27,036,366) (19,003,133)
Payments of lease liabilities 8.b (8,314,052) (7,975,749)
Payments of renewable energy liability 9 (3,891,504) (4,236,046)
Net Cash Flows (used in) Financing Activities (57,492,339) (49,643,013)
Net Increase in cash 2,076,467 2,843,899
Net foreign currency exchange difference 1,310,891 64,254
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,847,546 939,393
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 14 7,234,904 3,847,546

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE AUDIT REPORT.

JORDAN TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY
(PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY)
AMMAN – THE HASHEMITE KINGDOM OF JORDAN 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. General Information
Jordan Telecommunications Company (the “Company”) was established as a Public Shareholding Company on October 8, 1996, and 
adopted the Orange brand in 2007. The Company’s authorized and paid in capital amounted to JD 187,500,000 divided into 187,500,000 
shares. The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”).

The principal activities of the Group comprise introduction of a variety of telecommunication, internet, data and mobile payment services. 
These services include among other services fixed line services, prepaid, and postpaid mobile services, ADSL, fiber optics internet 
services, mobile payment services and establishing non-profitable academic centers and initiatives.

The Company is 51% owned by The Joint Investments Telecommunications Company (JIT CO.) a fully owned subsidiary of Orange Group 
(France). Moreover, Jordanian Social Security Corporation and Noor Financial Investment own 28.88% and 5.55% of the Company’s 
issued shares, respectively.

The Group’s head offices are located in Abdali, the Boulevard, Amman - Jordan. 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on February 2, 2023.

2. Basis of Preparation
Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.

Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Jordanian Dinars which represents the functional currency of the Group.

Going concern
The directors have, at the time of approving the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

3 Significant Accounting Policies
The same accounting policies, presentation and methods of computation have been followed in these consolidated financial statements 
as were applied in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, except for 
the effect of what is stated in noted (3.1.a).

3.1 Adoption of new and revised Standards
a. New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year
The following new and revised IFRSs, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022, have been 
adopted in these consolidated financial statements. The application of these revised IFRSs has not had any material impact on the 
amounts reported for the current and prior years but may affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations – Reference to the Conceptual Framework
The amendments update IFRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead of the 1989 Framework. They also add to 
IFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations within the scope of IAS 37, an acquirer applies IAS 37 to determine whether at the acquisition 
date a present obligation exists as a result of past events. For a levy that would be within the scope of IFRIC 21 Levies, the acquirer applies 
IFRIC 21 to determine whether the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has occurred by the acquisition date.
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Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment—Proceeds before Intended Use
The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items produced 
before that asset is available for use, i.e. proceeds while bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management. Consequently, an entity recognises such sales proceeds and related costs in profit or 
loss. The entity measures the cost of those items in accordance with IAS 2 Inventories.
The amendments also clarify the meaning of ‘testing whether an asset is functioning properly’. IAS 16 now specifies this as assessing 
whether the technical and physical performance of the asset is such that it is capable of being used in the production or supply of goods 
or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes.

If not presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income, the financial statements shall disclose the amounts of proceeds 
and cost included in profit or loss that relate to items produced that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities, and which line 
item(s) in the statement of comprehensive income include(s) such proceeds and cost.

Amendments to IAS 37 – Onerous Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate 
directly to a contract consist of both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labour or materials) and an 
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item 
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020
The Annual Improvements include amendments to four standards:

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
The amendment provides additional relief to a subsidiary which becomes a first-time adopter later than its parent in respect of accounting 
for cumulative translation differences. As a result of the amendment, a subsidiary that uses the exemption in IFRS 1:D16 (a) can now also 
elect to measure cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations at the carrying amount that would be included in the parent’s 
financial statements, based on the parent’s date of transition to IFRS Standards, if no adjustments were made for procedures and for 
the effects of the business combination in which the parent acquired the subsidiary. A similar election is available to an associate or joint 
venture that uses the exemption in IFRS 1:D16 (a).

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The amendment clarifies that in applying the ‘10 per cent’ test to assess whether to derecognise a financial liability, an entity includes only 
fees paid or received between the entity (the borrower) and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender on 
the other’s behalf.

IFRS 16 Leases
The amendment removes the illustration of the reimbursement of leasehold improvements.

IAS 41 Agriculture
The amendment removes the requirement in IAS 41 for entities to exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring fair value. This aligns 
the fair value measurement in IAS 41 with the requirements of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement to use internally consistent cash flows 
and discount rates and enables preparers to determine whether to use pretax or post-tax cash flows and discount rates for the most 
appropriate fair value measurement.

b. New and Revised Standards in issue but not yet effective
At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS 
Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

New and revised IFRSs Effective date

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (including the June 2020 amendments to IFRS 17)
IFRS 17 establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of insurance contracts and supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts.

IFRS 17 outlines a general model, which is modified for insurance contracts with direct 
participation features, described as the variable fee approach. The general model is simplified 
if certain criteria are met by measuring the liability for remaining coverage using the premium 
allocation approach.

The general model uses current assumptions to estimate the amount, timing and uncertainty 
of future cash flows and it explicitly measures the cost of that uncertainty. It takes into account 
market interest rates and the impact of policyholders’ options and guarantees.

In June 2020, the Board issued Amendments to IFRS 17 to address concerns and 
implementation challenges that were identified after IFRS 17 was published. The amendments 
defer the date of initial application of IFRS 17 (incorporating the amendments) to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. At the same time, the Board issued 
Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying IFRS 9 (Amendments to IFRS 4) that 
extends the fixed expiry date of the temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 in IFRS 4 to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.

In December 2021, the IASB issued Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9—Comparative 
Information (Amendment to IFRS 17) to address implementation challenges that were identified 
after IFRS 17 was published. The amendment addresses challenges in the presentation of 
comparative information.

For the purpose of the transition requirements, the date of initial application is the start of the 
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the Standard, and the transition date is 
the beginning of the period immediately preceding the date of initial application.

The amendments are applied 
retrospectively for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2023, 
unless impracticable, in which case the 
modified retrospective approach or the 
fair value approach is applied.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution 
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the amendments 
state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not 
contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for 
using the equity method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of 
the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses 
resulting from the remeasurement of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has 
become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair 
value are recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated 
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The effective date is yet to be set. Earlier 
application is permitted.

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-current
The amendments to IAS 1 affect only the presentation of liabilities as current or non-current 
in the statement of financial position and not the amount or timing of recognition of any asset, 
liability, income or expenses, or the information disclosed about those items.

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or noncurrent is based 
on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is 
unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement 
of a liability, explain that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at the end of 
the reporting period, and introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement 
refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.

The amendments are applied 
retrospectively for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2023, 
with early application permitted.
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New and revised IFRSs Effective date

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice 
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements - Disclosure of Accounting Policies
The amendments change the requirements in IAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting 
policies. The amendments replace all instances of the term ‘significant accounting policies’ 
with ‘material accounting policy information’. Accounting policy information is material if, when 
considered together with other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The supporting paragraphs in IAS 1 are also amended to clarify that accounting policy 
information that relates to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions is immaterial and 
need not be disclosed. Accounting policy information may be material because of the nature 
of the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. 
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other events 
or conditions is itself material.

The Board has also developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the 
application of the ‘four-step materiality process’ described in IFRS Practice Statement 2.

January 1, 2023, with earlier application 
permitted and are applied prospectively.

The amendments to IFRS Practice 
Statement 2 do not contain an effective 
date or transition requirements.

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors - Definition of Accounting Estimates
The amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition of 
accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are “monetary amounts 
in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.

The definition of a change in accounting estimates was deleted. However, the Board retained 
the concept of changes in accounting estimates in the Standard with the following clarifications:
• A change in accounting estimate that results from new information or new developments is 
not the correction of an error
• The effects of a change in an input or a measurement technique used to develop an 
accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result from the 
correction of prior period errors
The IASB added two examples (Examples 4-5) to the Guidance on implementing IAS 8, which 
accompanies the Standard. The IASB has deleted one example (Example 3) as it could cause 
confusion in light of the amendments.

January 1, 2023, with earlier application 
permitted.

New and revised IFRSs Effective date

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 
arising from a Single Transaction
The amendments introduce a further exception from the initial recognition exemption. Under 
the amendments, an entity does not apply the initial recognition exemption for transactions 
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Depending on the applicable tax law, equal taxable and deductible temporary differences 
may arise on initial recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. For example, this may arise 
upon recognition of a lease liability and the corresponding right-of-use asset applying IFRS 16 
at the commencement date of a lease.

Following the amendments to IAS 12, an entity is required to recognise the related deferred 
tax asset and liability, with the recognition of any deferred tax asset being subject to the 
recoverability criteria in IAS 12.

The Board also adds an illustrative example to IAS 12 that explains how the amendments are 
applied.

The amendments apply to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period presented. In addition, at the beginning of the earliest comparative period 
an entity recognises:
• A deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 

against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax 
liability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with:
- Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.
- Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities and the corresponding amounts 

recognised as part of the cost of the related asset.
• The cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening 

balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) at that date.

January 1, 2023, with earlier application 
permitted.

Management anticipates that these new standards, interpretations and amendments will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements as and when they are applicable and adoption of these new standards, interpretations and amendments, may have no material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group in the period of initial application.
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3.2 Summary of Significant Accounting Polices

Basis of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its 
subsidiaries) made up to December 31, each year. Control is achieved when the Company:
• Has the power over the investee.
• Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee.
• Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more 
of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over the investee when the 
voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers 
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, 
including:
• The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders.
• Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties.
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements.
• Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant 

activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control 
of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in profit or loss from the date 
the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with the 
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the members of the Group 
are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Those interests of non-controlling 
shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation may initially 
be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair 
value. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus 
the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling 
interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests 
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying 
amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the 
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the noncontrolling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration 
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal recognised in profit or loss is calculated as the difference 
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous 
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), less liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as required/
permitted by applicable IFRS Standards). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost 
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 when applicable, or the cost on initial recognition 
of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

The subsidiaries of the Group, included in the consolidated financial statements of Jordan Telecommunications Company which are all 
incorporated in Jordan are as follows:

Name of subsidiary Principal activity Capital
JD

Shareholding 
percentage
%

Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications GSM Operator 70,000,000 100%

Jordan Data Communications Internet service provider (ISP) 750,000 100%

Dimension Company for Digital Development of Data
Development of Renewable Energy 
Projects

220,000 *100%

Petra Mobile Payment Services Company
Electronic Payment Services through 
Mobile Phone

***5,000,000 **100%

Future Pioneers for Development and Initiatives Orange Foundation 15,000 **100%
* Jordan Telecommunications owned 51% from Dimension Company for Digital Development of Data and the remaining 49% is owned by 
Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Company (wholly owned subsidiary).
** Wholly owned subsidiaries of Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications. 
*** The capital has been increased by JD 3 million to reach JD 5 million during December 2022, however, the registration of the new capital 
has finalized at Ministry of Industry and Trade during January 2023.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position when the Group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are 
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or 
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention 
in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the 
classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets
Debt instruments designated at amortised cost

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:
• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; 

and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 

on the principal amount outstanding.
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Amortised cost and effective interest rate method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the 
relevant period.

For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on initial 
recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected 
credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the 
debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate 
is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument 
on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the principal 
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the 
maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost and at 
FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by 
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently 
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised 
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on 
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group recognises interest income by applying the credit-adjusted effective 
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the 
credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments in 
equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent 
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured 
at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, 
instead, they will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9, unless the dividends 
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. 

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Specifically:
• Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity investment that is neither held for 

trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.
• Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt 

instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition 
if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (‘accounting mismatch’) that would 
arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Group has not designated 
any debt instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in 
profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses
The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at 
the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:
• For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences are 

recognised in profit or loss.
• For debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences on the amortised 

cost of the debt instrument are recognised in profit or loss. As the foreign currency element recognised in profit or loss is the same as if 
it was measured at amortised cost, the residual foreign currency element based on the translation of the carrying amount (at fair value) 
is recognised in other comprehensive income in the investments revaluation reserve.

• For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences are recognised in 
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss.

• For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income in the investments 
revaluation reserve.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments that are measured at amortised 
cost or at FVTOCI, trade receivables, contract assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The expected credit losses on these financial assets 
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting 
date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL 
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition instead of on 
evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the 
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument 
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is 
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
• The financial instrument has a low risk of default,
• The borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and
• Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the 

borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of 
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant 
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the 
specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount 
becomes past due.

Definition of default
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the customer is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, there 
is sufficient doubt about the ultimate collectability; or the customer is past due for more than 90 days.

Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that 
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:
• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
• a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
• the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the 

borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
• it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there 
is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery 
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if 
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical 
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by 
the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down 
as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date determined based 
on historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking 
information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group 
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance 
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a 
credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in consolidated statement of profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding 
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers 
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained 
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument 
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit 
or loss. In contrast, on derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure 
at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, 
but is transferred to retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity 
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit 
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in the 
consolidated statement profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability.

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held-for trading, or (iii) designated 
as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
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Financial guarantee contract liabilities
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs 
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL and do not arise from a 
transfer of an asset, are measured subsequently at the higher of:
• The amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 (see financial assets above).
• The amount recognised initially less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the revenue recognition 

policies.

Foreign exchange gains and losses
For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end of each reporting period, 
the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains 
and losses are recognised in profit or loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship. For those which 
are designated as a hedging instrument for a hedge of foreign currency risk foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity.

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate 
at the end of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that are measured as at FVTPL, the foreign exchange component forms part of 
the fair value gains or losses and is recognised in profit or loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit 
or loss.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and reported on a net basis in the accompanying consolidated statement of financial 
position when a legally enforceable right to set off such amounts exists and when the Group intends to settle on a net basis or to realise 
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Dividend
Dividend distributions to the Group’s shareholders are recognized as a liability in the consolidated financial statements in the period in 
which the dividend are approved by the shareholders. Dividend for the year that are approved after the reporting date of the consolidated 
financial statements are considered as an event after the reporting date.

Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit 
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes and share options granted to 
employees, if any.

Property and equipment 
Recognition and measurement
Property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Assets in the course 
of construction are carried at cost, less any impairment.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The costs of self-constructed assets include the 
following:
• The cost of materials and direct labour;
• Any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use;
• When the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the 

items and restoring the site on which they are located; and
• Capitalized borrowing costs.
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) 
of property and equipment.

Capital work-in-progress is transferred to the related property and equipment when the construction or installation and related activities 
necessary to prepare the property and equipment for their intended use have been completed, and the property and equipment are ready 
for operational use.

Expenditure
Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property and equipment that is accounted for separately is capitalised and 
the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off. Other subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases 
future economic benefits of the related item of property and equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost (other than freehold land and properties under construction) over their useful lives, 
using the straight-line method (generally with no residual value deducted), on the following bases:

Years

Buildings 25

Telecommunications equipment 5-20

Other assets 2-7
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of the lease term and the useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers 
ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the 
related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.

Derecognition
An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the 
continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives which as follows:

Years

FLAG access rights 20

Mobile operating licenses and frequency rights 25

Other intangibles 4-25
The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in 
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The Group has no intangibles with indefinite useful lives.

Internally-generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, 
and only if, all of the following conditions have been demonstrated:
• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale.
• The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it.
• The ability to use or sell the intangible asset.
• How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits.
• The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset.
• The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when 
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, 
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Derecognition of intangible assets
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses 
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Leases
The Group as lessee
The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset 
and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined 
as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of 
office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits 
from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted 
by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

The incremental borrowing rate depends on the term, currency and start date of the lease and is determined based on a series of inputs 
including: the risk-free rate based on government bond rates; a country-specific risk adjustment; a credit risk adjustment based on bond 
yields; and an entity-specific adjustment when the risk profile of the entity that enters into the lease is different to that of the Group and the 
lease does not benefit from a guarantee from the Group.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise :
• Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable.
• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date.
• The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees.
• The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options.
• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective 
interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:
• The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment of 

exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate.

• The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, in 
which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the 
lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

• A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is 
remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at 
the effective date of the modification.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the 
commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore 
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 
37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs 
are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the right-of-use asset. If a lease transfers 
ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the 
related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of 
the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement the lease liability and the right-of-use asset. 
The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and 
are included in profit or loss.
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As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for any lease and 
associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has not used this practical expedient. For contracts that contain 
a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to 
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the 
non-lease components.

The Group as lessor
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the leases. 
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group regularly reviews the estimated unguaranteed residual value and applies the impairment 
requirements of IFRS 9, recognising an allowance for expected credit losses on the lease receivables.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under the 
contract to each component.

Impairment of property and equipment, right-of-use of assets and intangible assets
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property and equipment, right-of-use of assets and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate 
cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual 
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent 
allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there is an indication at the end of 
a reporting period that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss to the extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which has been recognised for the asset in 
prior years.

Taxation
The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in profit or loss because 
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period.

A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is considered probable that there will be a 
future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. 
The assessment is based on the judgement of tax professionals within the Group supported by previous experience in respect of such 
activities and in certain cases based on specialist independent tax advice.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability 
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other 
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, a deferred tax liability is not 
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests 
in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such 
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to 
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based 
on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group 
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and 
liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included 
in the accounting for the business combination.
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Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, other costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, 
selling and distribution.

Employees’ end of service benefits 
The Group provides end of service benefits for its employees who have chosen the option to accumulate the end of service benefits 
starting from January 1, 2012. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject 
to the completion of a minimum service period in accordance with the Group’s internal policies. A provision is made for the full amount of 
end of service benefit for the period of service up to the end of the year. The provision is disclosed as both current and non-current liability. 

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the 
Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting 
date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value 
of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable 
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably.

Revenue recognition
Most of the Group’s revenue falls within the application scope of IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”. The Group’s products 
and services are offered to customers under service contracts only and contracts combining the equipment used to access services and/
or other service offerings. Revenue is recognized net of taxes collected on behalf of government. 

Revenues from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer at an amount 
that reflects the considerations to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. The Group has 
generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements. 

Standalone service offerings (mobile service only, fixed service only, convergent service)
The Group proposes to individual consumers and corporate/enterprise customers a range of fixed and mobile telephone services, fixed, 
mobile and ADSL internet access services and content offerings (Media, added-value audio service, etc.). Certain contracts are for a fixed 
term (ranges between 12 to 36 months), while others may be terminated at short notice (i.e. monthly arrangements or portions of services).

Service revenue is recognized when the service is rendered, based on use (e.g. minutes of traffic) or the period (e.g. monthly service costs).

Under certain content offerings, the Group may act solely as an agent enabling the supply by a third-party of goods or services to the 
customer and not as a principal in the supply of the content. In such cases, revenue is recognized net of amounts transferred to the 
third-party. 

Contracts with customers generally do not include a material right, as the price invoiced for contracts and the services purchased and 
consumed by the customer beyond the firm scope (e.g. additional consumption, options, etc.) generally reflect their standalone selling 
prices. The Group has no significant impact related to contract modification for this type of contract. Service obligations transferred to the 
customer at the same pace are treated as a single obligation. 

When contracts include contractual clauses covering commercial discounts (initial discount on signature of the contract or conditional on 
attaining a consumption threshold) or free offers (e.g. 3 free months), the Groups defers these discounts or free offers over the enforceable 
contract term (period during which the Group and the customer have a firm commitment). Where applicable, the consideration payable to 
the customer is recognized as a deduction from revenue in accordance with the specific terms and conditions of each contract. 

If the performance obligations are not classified as distinct, the offering revenue is recognized on a straight-line over the contract term. The 
initial service connection in the context of a service contract and communication offering, is a good example. It is not generally separable 
from the service contract and communication offering and is therefore recognized in income over the average term of the expected 
contractual relationship.

Separate equipment sales
The Group proposes to individual consumers and corporate/enterprise customers several ways to buy their equipment (primarily mobile 
phones): equipment sales may be separate from or bundled with a service offering. When separate from a service offering, the amount 
invoiced is recognized in revenue on delivery and receivable immediately. Where payment is received in instalments, the offering comprises 
a financial component and interest is calculated and deducted from the amount invoiced and recognized over the payment period in 
finance income. 

Bundled equipment and service offerings 
The Group proposes numerous offerings to its individual consumers and corporate/enterprise customers comprising equipment (e.g. a 
mobile terminal) and services (e.g. a communications contract). 

Equipment revenue is recognized separately if the two components are distinct (i.e. if the customer can receive the services separately). 
Where one of the components in the offering is not at its separate selling price, revenue is allocated to each component in proportion 
to their individual selling prices. This is notably the case in offerings combining the sale of a mobile phone at a reduced price, where the 
individual selling price of the mobile phone is considered equal to its selling price on the sale date based on market practice.

Services including a build and run phase 
Certain corporate/enterprise customers contracts include two phases: a build phase followed by the management of the IT platforms. 

Revenue recognition requires an analysis of the facts and circumstances of each contract in order to determine whether distinct performance 
obligations exist. Depending on the contract, the Group recognizes build phase revenue at completion if this phase is qualified as distinct. 
On each contract modification, the Group assess the scope modification or its impact on the contract price in order to determine whether 
the amendment must be treated as a distinct contract, as if the existing contract were terminated and a new contract signed, or whether 
the amendment must be considered as a change to the existing contract. 

Service offerings to carriers (wholesale) 
Three types of commercial agreement are entered into with wholesale customers (e.g. other telecommunication operators) for domestic 
wholesale activities and International carrier offerings: 

Pay-as-you-go model: contract generally applied to “legacy” regulated activities (bitstream call termination, access to the local loop, roaming 
and certain data solution contracts), where contract services are not covered by a firm volume commitment. Revenue is recognized as the 
services are rendered (which corresponds to transfer of control) over the contractual term; 
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Send-or-pay model: contract where the price, volume and term are defined. The customer has a commitment to pay the amount indicated 
in the contract irrespective of actual traffic consumed over the commitment period. This contract category notably includes certain MVNO, 
IDD and hubbing contracts. Revenue is recognized progressively based on actual traffic during the period, to reflect transfer of control to 
the customer. 

Agreements between major transit carriers are not billed (free peering) and therefore not recognized in revenue. 

Service level commitment clause 
The Group’s commercial arrangements incorporate service level commitments (delivery time, service reinstatement time). 

These service level agreements cover commitments provided by the Group under the order, delivery, and after sales services process. 
If the Group fails to comply with one of these commitments, then it pays compensation to the end-customer, which is usually a tariff 
reduction deducted from revenues. The expected amount of such penalties is deducted from revenue as soon as it is probable that the 
commitment has not been or will not be met.

Value added services - Principal vs. agent
Revenue from value added services (VAS) sharing arrangements depend on the analysis of the facts and circumstances surrounding these 
transactions. Revenue from VAS is recognized when the Group performs the related service and, depending on the Group’s control or 
lack of control on the services transferred to the customer, is recognized either at the gross amount billed to the customer or the amount 
receivable by the Group as commission for facilitating the service.

Significant financing component
If a customer can pay for purchased equipment or services over a period, IFRS 15 requires judgement to determine if the contract includes 
a significant financing component. If it does, then the transaction price is adjusted to reflect the time value of money.

Customer loyalty programs
The Group operates a customer loyalty program that provides a variety of benefits for customers. The Group allocates the consideration 
received between products and services in a bundle including loyalty points as separate performance obligation based on their stand-
alone selling prices.

Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place either:
• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using 
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair 
value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are categorized within the fair 
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1
Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2
Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or 
indirectly observable.

Level 3
Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.
For financial instruments quoted in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices. Bid 
prices are used for assets and offer prices are used for liabilities.

For unquoted financial instruments, fair value is determined by reference to the market value of a similar investment, discounted cash flows, 
other appropriate valuation models or brokers’ quotes.

For financial instruments carried at amortized cost, the fair value is estimated by discounting future cash flows at the current market rate 
of return for similar financial instruments.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether 
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group determines classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics 
and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing 
on the dates of the transactions. 

At each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at 
that date. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted 
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand, short-term deposits 
with a maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and restricted cash. If original maturity 
of deposits exceeds three months, they are classified as short-term investments. 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits, as 
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts and restricted cash.

Restricted cash from Grants are held only for the purposes they are kept for, and are only released according to the terms of the 
agreements. 
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Restricted donations from Grants
A grant is recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the conditions attached to them are complied 
with.

When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognized as income over the period necessary to match on a systematic basis to the 
costs that it is intended to compensate.

Orange Money - units in circulation
Orange Money is a money transfer, payment and financial services solution provided through an electronic money (e-units) account that 
can be initiated using a valid mobile phone number. 

E-units in circulation represent customers’ e-unit accounts. The Group deposits a cash amount that equals the e-units in circulation to a 
restricted bank account which is monitored by the Central Bank of Jordan. E-units in circulation are recognized when customers deposit 
cash of the same amount at any of the Group’s shops or bank account. 

Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current classification. An asset is 
current when it is:
• Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle.
• Held primarily for the purpose of trading.
• Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period or;
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting 

period.

All other assets are classified as non-current. A liability is current when:
• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle.
• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading.
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period or,
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non- current assets and liabilities.

Customer contract assets and liabilities 
Customer assets and customer liabilities mainly arise from the difference in revenue recognition and customer invoicing. Contract assets 
mainly concern amounts allocated pursuant to IFRS 15 to consideration for goods and services transferred to a customer, where the 
unconditional right to collect is subordinate to the transfer of other goods or services under the same contract (or group of contracts). This 
is the case in a bundled offering combining the sale of an equipment and services for a fixed-period, where the equipment is invoiced at a 
reduced price leading to the reallocation of a portion of amounts invoiced for services to the supply of the equipment. The excess of the 
amount allocated to the equipment over the price invoiced is recognized as a contract asset and transferred to trade receivables as the 
service is invoiced. Contract assets, like trade receivables, are subject to impairment for credit risk. The recoverability of contract assets 
is also verified and notably the risk of loss in value due to contract interruption. Recoverability may also be impacted by a change in the 
legal environment governing offerings. 

Contract liabilities represent amounts paid by customers before receiving the goods and/or services promised in the contract. This is 
typically the case for advances received from customers or amounts invoiced and paid for goods or services not yet transferred, such as 
contracts payable in advance or prepaid packages (previously recorded in deferred revenue).

4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in the note above, the directors are required to make judgements (other 
than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are presented separately below), that the directors 
have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in financial statements.

Identifying performance obligations in a bundled sale of equipment and installation services
The Group provides telecommunications services that are either sold separately or bundled together with the sale of equipment (handsets) 
to a customer. The Group uses judgement in determining whether equipment and services are capable of being distinct. The fact that 
the Group regularly sells both equipment and services on a stand-alone basis indicates that the customer can benefit from both products 
on their own. Consequently, the Group allocated a portion of the transaction price to the equipment and the services based on relative 
stand-alone selling prices.

Judgements in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations
The Group generally recognise revenue over time as it performs continuous transfer of control of these services to the customers. Because 
customers simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by these services and the control transfer takes place over time, 
revenue is also recognised based on the extent of service transfer/ completion of transfer of each performance obligation. In determining 
the method for measuring progress for these performance obligations, the Group considered the nature of these services as well as the 
nature of its performance.

For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, the Group considers the general requirements of control (i.e. direct the use of asset 
and obtain substantially all benefits) and the following non-exhaustive list of indicators of transfer of control:
• Entity has present right to payment.
• Customer has legal title.
• Entity has transferred legal possession.
• Customer has significant risk and rewards.
• Customer has accepted the asset.

In making their judgment, the directors considered the detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue set out in IFRS 15 and, in particular, 
whether the Group had transferred control of the goods to the customer. Following the detailed quantification of the Group’s liability in 
respect of rectification work, and the agreed limitation on the customer’s ability to require further work or to require replacement of the 
goods, the directors are satisfied that control has been transferred and that recognition of the revenue in the current year is appropriate, 
in conjunction with the recognition of an appropriate warranty provision for the rectification costs.

Principal versus agent considerations
Revenue from value added services (VAS) sharing arrangements depend on the analysis of the facts and circumstances surrounding these 
transactions. The determination of whether the Group is acting as an agent or principal in these transactions require significant judgement 
and depends on the following factors:
• The Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the service.
• Whether the Group has inventory risk.
• Whether the Group has discretion in establishing the price.
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Consideration of significant financing component in a contract
The Group sells bundled services on a monthly payment scheme over a period of one to three years.

In concluding whether there is a significant financing component in a contract requires significant judgements and is dependent on the 
length of time between the customers payment and the transfer of equipment to the customer, as well as the prevailing interest rates in the 
market. The Group has concluded that there is no significant financing component in its contract with customers after such assessment.

In determining the interest to be applied to the amount of consideration, the Group has concluded that the interest rate implicit in the 
contract (i.e., the interest rate that discounts the cash selling price of the equipment to the amount paid in advance) is appropriate because 
this is commensurate with the rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the entity and its customer at 
contract inception.

Determining the lease term
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an 
extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension and termination options are included in a number of leases across 
the Group. These terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts. Extension options (or periods after 
termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lessee is reasonably certain to extend (or not to terminate) the lease. The 
assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and that is 
within the control of the lessee.

Internally generated intangible asset development costs
The Group capitalises costs for product development projects. Initial capitalisation of costs is based on management’s judgement that 
technological and economic feasibility is confirmed. In determining the amounts to be capitalised, management makes assumptions 
regarding the expected future cash generation of the project, discount rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits. The 
carrying amount of capitalised development costs was JD 5,412,989 as of December 31, 2022 (from which JD 1,807,857 are still in 
progress), (December 31, 2021: JD 3,231,060 , from which JD 911,523 were in progress).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period that may have a risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Provision for expected credit losses 
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables, due from telecom operators and contract assets. The provision 
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns. 

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the 
historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic 
product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year, which can lead to an increased number of defaults the historical default rates 
are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are 
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant 
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit 
loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. 

Taxes
The Group’s current tax provision relates to management’s assessment of the amount of tax payable on open tax positions where the 
liabilities remain to be agreed with the income and sales tax department. 

The Group is subject to income taxes in Jordan. Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are 
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group 
recognizes a liability for anticipated taxes based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these 
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions 
in the period in which such determination is made. Any changes in the estimates and assumptions used as well as the use of different, but 
equally reasonable estimates and assumptions may have an impact on the carrying values of the deferred tax assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies.

Provision and contingent liabilities
The Group’s management determines provision on best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation as a result 
of the past event at the reporting date.

Contingent liabilities are potential liabilities that arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. 

Provisions for liabilities are recorded when a loss is considered probable and can be reasonably estimated.

As stated in note 28 below, the Group’s signed an agreement with the Telecommunications Regulatory Commission (TRC) related to 
a settlement of the historical revenue sharing disputes and providing the 5G frequencies license, Management believes that attributing 
amounts stated in the settlement signed agreement provides an appropriate basis for measuring the cost of each component of the 
settlement.

Useful lives of property and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property and equipment based on the period over which the assets 
are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed at least annually and are updated 
if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear and technical or commercial obsolescence on the use of these 
assets. It is possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes 
in factors mentioned above. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of property and equipment would increase depreciation expense and 
decrease noncurrent assets.

During the year 2022, the Group’s management has reviewed the estimated useful lives for specific assets in the telecommunications 
equipment category taking into consideration the Group’s policies, procedures and the telecom industry’s best practice. Based on the 
review, the Group’s management decided to adjust the useful lives of these assets in order to be consistent with the expected pattern of 
economic benefits. This adjustment resulted in increase in depreciation expenses amounting to JD 6,894,770 for the year 2022 and will 
result a in a decrease in depreciation expense with the same amount in 2023.

Useful lives of intangible assets
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its intangible assets for calculating amortisation. This estimate is 
determined based on the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset. As part of the agreement 
with the Telecommunications Regulatory Commission (TRC) to extend spectrum and individual licenses validities for additional 10 years, 
therefore, the total license validity shall become 25 years, to be in line with the international practice, without changing the value of these 
licenses, accordingly, the adjustment of the useful life of the existing licenses has resulted in decrease in amortization by JD 4,317,052 for 
the year 2022.  
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Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting date. Non-financial assets 
tested for impairment when such indicators exist.

If there are indications of impairment, the Group tests non-financial assets for impairment to determine their recoverable amounts based 
on value-in-use calculations or at fair value less costs to sell. The value in use includes estimates on growth rates of future cash flows, 
number of years used in the cash flow model and the discount rates. The fair value less cost to sell estimate is based on recent/intended 
market transactions and the related EBITDA multiples used in such transactions.

Discounting of lease payments
The lease payments are discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”). Management has applied judgments and 
estimates to determine the IBR at the commencement of lease.

Impairment of inventories
When inventories become old or obsolete, an estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts, this 
estimation is performed on an individual basis. Inventories which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed 
collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, based on historical selling 
prices.

5. Segment information
The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of the services provided, with each 
segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different services. 

The Fixed-line voice segment constructs, develops, maintains fixed telecommunication network services and provides fiber to home 
services. 

The Mobile communications segment installs, operates and manages a cellular network in Jordan. 

The Data services segment provides, furnishes, installs, maintains, engineers and operates communication facilities for the provision of 
data network and internet access services to its customers and helping companies to be more efficient in the way they do their business 
on internet.

The renewable energy segment provides the Group with its need from electricity through managing the solar farms and renewable energy 
projects.

The mobile payments segment provides the customers with electronic wallets services which enable them to execute financial payments 
through their mobile phones.
 
The non-for-profit segment supports the local socio-economic development through academic initiatives in the areas of sustainable 
economics, social responsibility, environment, health, culture and science. This segment is not operating up to the date of this consolidated 
financial statements.

The Group’s management monitors the operating results of the operating segment separately for making decisions about performance 
assessment; segment performance is calculated based on operating profit or loss.

The following tables represent revenues and profit and certain assets and liabilities information of the Group’s business segments for the 
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Year ended December 31, 
2022

Fixed-line 
Voice

JD

Mobile
Communications

JD

Data 
Services

JD

Renewable 
Energy 

JD

Payment 
Services

JD

Non-for-
Profit 

Activities
JD

Total
JD

Net revenue

External customers 134,492,071 177,881,440 33,528,567 - 1,665,798 - 347,567,876

Inter-segment revenue 35,499,825 3,038,183 - 6,686,464 708,744 - 45,933,216

169,991,896 180,919,623 33,528,567 6,686,464 2,374,542 - 393,501,092

Segment Results 

Operating Profit* 24,491,025 113,805,973 23,402,807 (752,004) (1,411,042) (3,032) 159,533,727

Depreciation and 
amortization 

(86,957,358)

Finance costs and income, 
net

(10,101,534)

Net foreign currency 
exchange Differences

324,388 

Profit before Income Tax 62,799,223

Income tax expense (18,768,195)

Profit and Comprehensive 
Income for the Year

44,031,028

Assets and Liabilities 

Segment Assets 263,068,099 389,049,919 25,376,219 37,877,362 27,140,280 199,336 742,711,215

Segment Liabilities 142,445,195 239,871,936 6,633,751 39,348,791 15,938,134 84,311 444,322,118

Other Segment 
Information

Property and equipment 173,503,022 79,242,428 7,843,761 2,018,384 1,116,480 77,912 263,801,987

Intangible assets 16,424,769 196,766,262 1,865,743 - - - 215,056,774

Renewable energy assets - - - 34,231,733 - - 34,231,733

Right-of-use assets 6,783,580 29,587,146 - 1,125,078 - - 37,495,804
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Year ended December 31, 
2021

Fixed-line 
Voice

JD

Mobile
Communications

JD

Data 
Services

JD

Renewable 
Energy 

JD

Payment 
Services

JD

Non-for-
Profit 

Activities
JD

Total
JD

Net revenue

External customers 130,388,533 167,895,828 34,580,665 - 599,620 - 333,464,646

Inter-segment revenue 42,031,147 3,365,424 9,533 8,653,521 438,078 - 54,497,703

172,419,680 171,261,252 34,590,198 8,653,521 1,037,698 - 387,962,349

Segment Results 

Operating Profit* 24,531,308 90,806,115 23,938,318 (3,220,364) (1,458,299) (2,478) 134,594,600

Depreciation and 
amortization 

(85,874,234)

Finance costs and income, 
net

(10,692,828)

Net foreign currency 
exchange Differences

186,768

Profit before Income Tax 38,214,306

Income tax expense (12,090,015)

Profit and Comprehensive 
Income for the Year

26,124,291

Assets and Liabilities 

Segment Assets 209,075,557 376,355,828 55,891,421 42,241,997 15,213,304 1,679,767 700,457,874

Segment Liabilities 136,294,458 221,874,401 8,462,284 41,132,257 9,795,273 1,541,132 419,099,805

Other Segment 
Information

Property and equipment 160,426,562 88,487,083 9,058,804 2,157,935 872,186 87,257 261,089,827

Intangible assets 15,762,046 163,855,009 1,551,517 - - - 181,168,572

Renewable energy assets - - - 36,344,076 - - 36,344,076

Right-of-use assets 6,950,503 27,604,081 - 1,188,462 - - 35,743,046

*  Operating profits for segment reporting purposes includes gains on disposal of property and equipment and other income.

6. Property and Equipment
The details of this item are as follows:

For the year 2022
Land and 
buildings

JD

Telecommunications 
equipment and software

JD

Other property and 
equipment

JD
Total
JD

Cost

As of January 1, 2022 88,572,315 1,084,943,712 64,694,607 1,238,210,634

Additions 2,400,966 49,440,271 1,279,002 53,120,239

Transfers from inventories - 9,010,803 - 9,010,803

Disposals (1,618,828) (1,808,036) (1,215,038) (4,641,902)

 As of December 31, 2022 89,354,453 1,141,586,750 64,758,571 1,295,699,774

Accumulated depreciation

As of January 1, 2022 51,493,278 871,107,616 54,519,913 977,120,807

Depreciation charge for the year* 1,483,788 55,670,794 565,038 57,719,620

Disposals - (1,789,993) (1,152,647) (2,942,640)

As of December 31, 2022 52,977,066 924,988,417 53,932,304 1,031,897,787
Net book value 
As of December 31, 2022

36,377,387 216,598,333 10,826,267 263,801,987

For the year 2021
Land and 
buildings

JD

Telecommunications 
equipment and software

JD

Other property and 
equipment

JD
Total
JD

Cost

As of January 1, 2021 87,583,676 1,023,781,399 64,410,913 1,175,775,988

Additions 1,242,886 54,996,016 780,884 57,019,786

Transfers from inventories - 8,517,965 - 8,517,965

Disposals (254,247) (2,351,668) (497,190) (3,103,105)

 As of December 31, 2021 88,572,315 1,084,943,712 64,694,607 1,238,210,634

Accumulated depreciation

As of January 1, 2021 49,769,540 822,547,369 54,498,550 926,815,459

Depreciation charge for the year 1,723,738 50,840,978 518,552 53,083,268

Disposals - (2,280,731) (497,189) (2,777,920)

As of December 31, 2021 51,493,278 871,107,616 54,519,913 977,120,807
Net book value 
As of December 31, 2021

37,079,037 213,836,096 10,174,694 261,089,827

* During the year 2022, the Group’s management has reviewed the estimated useful lives for specific assets in the telecommunications 
equipment category taking into consideration the Group’s policies, procedures and the telecom industry’s best practice. Based on the 
review, the Group’s management decided to adjust the useful lives of these assets in order to be consistent with the expected pattern of 
economic benefits. This adjustment resulted in increase in depreciation expenses amounting to JD 6,894,770 for the year 2022 and will 
result in a decrease in depreciation expense by the same amount in 2023.
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7. Intangible Assets
The details of this item are as follows:

For the year 2022
FLAG access 

rights
JD

Mobile operating 
licenses and 

frequency rights
JD

Other
intangibles

JD

Projects 
under 

progress*
JD

Total
JD

Cost
As of January 1, 2022 32,261,777 334,743,044 11,142,323 911,523 379,058,667
Additions 2,562,058 49,922,336 1,043,380 896,334 54,424,108
As of December 31, 2022 34,823,835 384,665,380 12,185,703 1,807,857 433,482,775

Accumulated amortization
As of January 1, 2022 19,134,813 172,130,512 6,624,770 - 197,890,095
Amortization 2,415,987 17,139,074 980,845 - 20,535,906
As of December 31, 2022 21,550,800 189,269,586 7,605,615 - 218,426,001
Net book value 
As of December 31, 2022

13,273,035 195,395,794 4,580,088 1,807,857 215,056,774

For the year 2021
FLAG access 

rights
JD

Mobile operating 
licenses and 

frequency rights
JD

Other
intangibles

JD

Projects 
under 

progress*
JD

Total
JD

Cost
As of January 1, 2021 32,203,921 334,743,044 10,132,598 - 377,079,563
Additions 57,856 - 1,009,725 911,523 1,979,104
As of December 31, 2021 32,261,777 334,743,044 11,142,323 911,523 379,058,667

Accumulated amortization
As of January 1, 2021 17,208,783 150,674,386 5,872,344 - 173,755,513
Amortization 1,926,030 21,456,126 752,426 - 24,134,582
As of December 31, 2021 19,134,813 172,130,512 6,624,770 - 197,890,095
Net book value
As of December 31, 2021

13,126,964 162,612,532 4,517,553 911,523 181,168,572

*  Projects under progress represent several software and applications developed internally by the group, the development costs were JD 
1,807,857 as of December 31, 2022 (JD 911,523 as of December 31, 2021). The management expect to complete the projects during 
2023 and the expected cost to complete around JD 7 million. 

As part of the agreement with the Telecommunications Regulatory Commission (TRC) –note 28 the spectrum and individual licenses 
validities extended for additional 10 years, therefore, the total license validity shall become 25 years, to be in line with the international 
practice, without changing the value of these licenses, accordingly, the adjustment of the useful life of the existing licenses has resulted in 
decrease in amortization by JD 4,317,052 for the year 2022.  

8. Leases
The Group has lease contracts for various items of shops, buildings, network sites and other items used in its operations. Leases of shops 
and buildings generally have lease terms between 2 and 15 years, while network sites and others generally have lease terms between 
2 and 20 years. The Group’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. Generally, the Group is 
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets.

The Group also has certain leases of apartments for expatriate employees with lease terms of 12 months or less. The Group applies the 
‘short-term lease’ recognition exemption for these leases.

a.  Right-of-use Assets
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognized and the movements during the year:

For the year 2022
Shops and 
Buildings 

JD

Network Sites
(Fixed and Mobile)

JD
Others

JD
Total
JD

As of January 1, 2022 8,847,090 26,870,736 25,220 35,743,046

Additions 320,970 7,982,449 38,828 8,342,247

Depreciation (1,632,106) (4,918,857) (38,526) (6,589,489)

As of December 31, 2022 7,535,954 29,934,328 25,522 37,495,804

For the year 2021
Shops and 
Buildings 

JD

Network Sites
(Fixed and Mobile)

JD
Others

JD
Total
JD

As of January 1, 2021 9,859,983 32,419,815 22,297 42,302,095

Additions 669,015 1,794,011 41,148 2,504,174

Termination (disposals) (80,861) (2,438,321) - (2,519,182)

Depreciation (1,601,047) (4,904,769) (38,225) (6,544,041)

As of December 31, 2021 8,847,090 26,870,736 25,220 35,743,046

b. Lease Liabilities
Lease liabilities related to Right of Use assets are discounted in line with the Group’s policy. Liabilities are discounted at rates ranging 
between 4.4% - 7.56% depending on the liabilities contract term which range between 2-20 years. 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year:

2022
JD

2021
JD

As of January 1, 38,645,138 44,192,468

Additions 8,342,247 2,504,174

Termination (disposals) - (2,519,182)

Interest expense 2,434,103 2,443,427

Payments (8,314,052) (7,975,749)

As of December 31, 41,107,436 38,645,138
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The allocation of short and long-term lease liabilities was as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Current 6,254,047 5,749,642

Non-current 34,853,389 32,895,496

41,107,436 38,645,138

The maturity analysis lease of liabilities was as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Not later within 1 year 6,254,048 5,749,642

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 20,292,476 16,617,310

Later than 5 years 14,560,912 16,278,186

41,107,436 38,645,138

The maturity analysis of undiscounted lease liabilities was as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Not later within 1 year 8,426,711 7,855,270

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 24,753,824 23,122,499

Later than 5 years 20,894,524 18,928,218

54,075,059 49,905,987

Amounts recognized in consolidated statement of profit and loss:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 6,589,489 6,544,041

Interest expense on lease liabilities 2,434,103 2,443,427

Expense relating to short-term leases 132,709 482,686

9,156,301 9,470,154

9. Renewable Energy Asset
During the year 2018, the Group entered through its subsidiary E-Dimension in a Design, Build, Finance and Operate solar photovoltaic 
power plants agreement to self-generate electricity for the Group’s own use from different locations in Jordan. According to the agreement, 
the Group engaged a private sector entity to plan, design, engineer, procure, turnkey construct, finance, operate, maintain and transfer, 
the PV power plants after 20 years from the date of operations. 

During 2019, the private entity engaged to execute the agreement, completed the construction of the solar photovoltaic power plants and 
started the operations in all locations. Accordingly, the Group Renewable Energy Asset was capitalized at the present value of the minimum 
payments amounted to JD 42,246,856, using the incremental borrowing rate of 7.56%. The renewable energy asset is depreciated over 
the agreement term which is 20 years which represent the useful life of the asset as per the management assessment, the payments are 
apportioned between interest (recognized as finance costs) and reduction of the renewable energy liability.

The net book value of the renewable energy assets and the movement on it were as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

As of January 1, 36,344,076 38,456,419

Depreciation (2,112,343) (2,112,343)

As of December 31, 34,231,733 36,344,076

The movements on the renewable energy liability were as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

As of January 1, 38,570,038 39,798,490

Interest expense 2,762,968 3,007,594

Payments (3,891,504) (4,236,046)

As of December 31, 37,441,502 38,570,038

The allocation for the renewable energy assets lease liabilities between current and non-current were as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Current 5,971,327 4,498,282

Non-current 31,470,175 34,071,756

37,441,502 38,570,038

This liability is guaranteed by Jordan Telecommunications Company and Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Company. 

Future payments under the agreement together with the present value of the payments were as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Within one year 5,031,462 4,306,468

After one year but not more than five years 16,856,234 16,986,403

More than five years 43,671,648 48,157,977

Total minimum payments 65,559,344 69,450,848

Less: amounts representing finance charges (28,117,842) (30,880,810)

Present value of liability 37,441,502 38,570,038
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10. Income Tax

a. Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense reported in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and comprehensive income as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Income tax charge – current year 17,469,237 11,308,659

National contribution – current year 1,455,784 942,080

Effect of deferred tax (156,826) (160,724)

18,768,195 12,090,015

The reconciliation between income tax expense at the statutory income tax rate and income tax expense at the Group’s effective income 
tax rate was as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Accounting profit before income tax 62,799,223 38,214,306

At statutory income tax rate of* 16,327,798 9,935,720

Tax adjustments for:

Tax effect of provision for expected credit losses 156,000 258,636

Tax effect of debts written off - (1,150,113)

Tax effect of non-tax-deductible expenses and provisions 4,087,121 3,463,138

Tax effect of non-taxable gain on disposal of land (1,802,724) (417,366)

Reported income tax 18,768,195 12,090,015

Effective income tax rate% 29.9% 31.6%
* The income tax provision for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were calculated in accordance with the income tax law No. 
(38) of 2018 which includes statutory tax rate of 24% and national contribution of 2% for the Company. The tax rate on subsidiaries ranges 
from 20% to 24% and national contribution ranges from 2% to 4%.

b. Income Tax Provision
Movement on the income tax provision during the year is as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

As of January 1, 12,548,210 9,789,625

Income tax charge for the year 17,469,237 11,308,659

30,017,447 21,098,284

Less: Income tax paid (12,483,966) (8,471,133)

Withholding tax on interest income (132,250) (78,941)

As of December 31 17,401,231 12,548,210

c. Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets at December 31, is related to the following items:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Carried forward losses* 2,576,742 2,576,742

Deferred tax impact 837,379 680,553

Legal cases provision 360,368 360,368

3,774,489 3,617,663
* Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the full amount these losses as they may not be used to offset taxable profits 
elsewhere in the Group, they have arisen in Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Company that have been loss-making for some 
time, and there are no other tax planning opportunities or other evidence of recoverability in the near future.

d. Tax Status
The below table represents the tax status and tax rate for the Company and its subsidiary companies:

Company’s Name Final Settlements Up To

Jordan Telecommunications 2018

Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications 2020

Jordan Data Communications 2020

Dimension Company for Digital Development of Data 2018

Petra Mobile Payment Services Company 2019

Future Pioneers for Development and Initiatives 2021

11. Inventories
The details of this item are as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Materials and supplies* 9,795,185 8,908,094
Handsets and others 4,195,222 2,857,765
Provision for damaged and slow-moving inventories (1,605,908) (1,605,908)
 12,384,499 10,159,951

* The materials and supplies are held for own use and are not for resale. During 2022, an amount of JD 16,245,980 (JD 15,890,696 during 
2021) was recognized as a direct operating cost and inventories amounting to JD 9,010,803 (JD 8,517,965 during 2021) in materials and 
supplies were transferred to property and equipment. 

Movement on the provision for damaged and slow-moving inventories is as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

As of January 1, 1,605,908 1,522,339

Additions - 100,000

Write offs - (16,431)

As of December 31, 1,605,908 1,605,908
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12. Trade Receivables and Other Current Assets
The details of this item are as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Trade receivables 81,212,240 69,431,306
Contract assets - unbilled revenue 627,918 3,169,088
Amounts due from related parties (note 27) 3,201,504 3,390,240

85,041,662 75,990,634
Allowance for expected credit losses and doubtful accounts (8,340,173) (7,884,310)

76,701,489 68,106,324
Other current assets 30,121,280 41,323,674

106,822,769 109,429,998
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. The Group does not obtain collateral over trade receivables except for some distributors’ trade 
receivables where guarantees are obtained. 

Movements on the allowance for expected credit losses and doubtful accounts were as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

As of January 1, 7,884,310 9,378,145

Provision for the year 600,000 794,755

Write offs (144,137) (4,423,513)

Transfer from other provisions - 2,134,923

As of December 31, 8,340,173 7,884,310

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group trade receivables and contract assets:

As of December 31, 2022

Days past due 

Total
JD

Current
JD

1-30 days
JD

31-90 
days
JD

91-180 
days
JD

>180 
days
JD

Expected credit loss rate - 5% 5% 5-20% 20-100%

Estimated gross carrying amount at default 6,342,657 7,700,469 5,320,149 5,222,611 60,455,776 85,041,662

Expected credit loss - 385,024 266,007 365,583 7,323,559 8,340,173

As of December 31, 2021

Days past due 

Total
JD

Current
JD

1-30 days
JD

31-90 
days
JD

91-180 
days
JD

>180 
days
JD

Expected credit loss rate - 5% 5% 5-20% 20-100%

Estimated gross carrying amount at default 6,073,287 9,296,456 7,502,322 2,404,430 50,714,139 75,990,634

Expected credit loss - 464,823 375,116 360,665 6,683,706 7,884,310

Management determines the expected credit losses on customers’ balances and builds up a provision based on different factors including 
analysis of customer or group of customer’s behaviours. 

Unimpaired receivables are expected to be fully recoverable. The Group has a credit department that continuously monitors the credit 
status of the Group’s customers. Service will be disconnected for customers exceeding certain limits for certain period of time. 

Land Expropriation
Trade receivables and other current assets category includes the cost of plots of land with a total amount of JD 274,356 as of December 
31, 2022 (JD 1,893,184 as of December 31, 2021) that were expropriated by Greater Amman Municipality (GAM) in previous years. 

During 2018, the Group signed an agreement with GAM to settle the land expropriation lawsuit and due to delay in payment, a memorandum 
of understanding was signed during April 2021,with GAM in which GAM agreed to settle the remaining amounts due to Jordan Telecom 
through monthly equal payments starting from 2022 to 2025. Accordingly, the Group has received an amount of JD 4,000,000 during the 
year ended December 31, 2022 (JD 2,100,000 during the year 2021) as a partial settlement.  

13. Balances Due From / To Telecom Operators
The Group has agreements with local and foreign telecom operators, whereby amounts due from and to the same operator are subject to 
the right of offset. The net balances are as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Balances due from telecom operators 4,584,558 5,327,990

Amounts due from related parties (note 27) 334,396 468,686

4,918,954 5,796,676

Allowance for expected credit losses and doubtful accounts (3,350,442) (3,350,442)

Balances due from telecom operators 1,568,512 2,446,234

Balances due to telecom operators 19,408,221 17,236,423

Amounts due to related parties (note 27) 2,354,123 1,209,106

Balances due to telecom operators 21,762,344 18,445,529
Balances due from/to telecom operators are non-interest bearing and not guaranteed.



9190

Movements on the allowance for expected credit losses and doubtful accounts were as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

As of January 1, 3,350,442 3,150,442

Provision for the year - 200,000

As of December 31, 3,350,442 3,350,442

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s balances due from telecom operators:

As of December 31, 2022

Days past due 
Total
JDCurrent

JD
1-90 days

JD

91-180 
days
JD

180-270 
days
JD

>271 
days
JD

Expected credit loss rate - 40%-50% 50%-60% 60%-70% 70%-100%

Estimated gross carrying amount at default 691,869 1,079,540 144,772 276,014 2,726,759 4,918,954

Expected credit loss - 539,770 72,386 138,007 2,600,279 3,350,442

As of December 31, 2021

Days past due 
Total
JDCurrent

JD
1-90 days

JD

91-180 
days
JD

180-270 
days
JD

>271 
days
JD

Estimated gross carrying amount at default 1,051,100 2,239,329 184,550 171,219 2,150,478 5,796,676

Expected credit loss - 969,381 110,730 119,853 2,150,478 3,350,442
Unimpaired amounts due from telecommunication operators are expected to be fully recoverable.

14. Cash and Cash Equivalents
The cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows represent the balance of cash and short-term deposits netted 
by the balance of the overdrafts and restricted cash as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Cash and short-term deposits 64,320,009 57,327,137

Less: Due to banks (42,067,901) (43,112,473)

Restricted cash / Customers accounts -E-units* (14,922,325) (8,936,368)

Restricted cash / Grants funds** (94,879) (1,430,750)

7,234,904 3,847,546
Cash and short-term deposits include deposits with commercial banks in Jordan for periods that ranges between one day and three 
months in Jordanian Dinars, and US Dollars amounting to JD 63,963,553 as of December 31, 2022 and JD 54,379,891 as of December 
31, 2021 with an effective interest rate of JD 3.26% and USD 2.4%, respectively (2021: JD 2.59% and USD 0.23%).

* The balance in this account represents restricted cash relating to e-units in circulation in Petra Mobile Payment Service Company (Orange 
Money) in compliance with the Central Bank of Jordan’s requirements (note 21). 

** The Group obtained four grants (two in 2020 and two in 2021) for the purpose of providing funding to promote Jordan Telecom’s 
innovation initiatives, including the Group’s coding academy and other academic programs. The Grants are restricted as per the conditions 
of the contracts (note 22). 

Due to banks
This item represents the utilized amount of the credit facilities granted to the Group from Jordanian commercial banks with a ceiling of JD 
65 million as of December 31, 2022 (JD 50 million as of December 31, 2022). Interest rates on the credit facilities granted ranges from 
6.30% to 7.275% during the year 2022 ( 5.15% to 5.25% during the year 2021). These overdrafts are unsecured.

15. Paid in Capital
Jordan Telecommunications Company (the Company) authorized and paid in capital consists of 187,500,000 shares (2020: 187,500,000 
shares) with par value of one Jordanian Dinar each.

16. Statutory Reserve
As required by the Jordanian Companies’ Law, 10% of the Company’s net income before tax is transferred to statutory reserve. The 
Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the balance of the reserve reaches 25% of the paid in capital. The 
Group has elected not to transfer any amount to the statutory reserve starting from the year 2005. The statutory reserve is not available 
for distribution to the shareholders.

17. Dividends Paid and Proposed
The Board of Directors proposed to the General assembly in its meeting that held on February 2, 2023 a cash dividends of JD 0.210 per 
share totalling JD 39,375,000.

The General Assembly in its meeting which was held on April 21, 2022 has approved a cash dividend of JD 0.144 per share totalling JD 
27,000,000 for the year 2021.

On April 29, 2021, the General Assembly approved a cash dividend of JD0.10 per share totalling JD 18,750,000 for the year 2020.
     
18. Telecommunications License Payable
This amount represents the cash price equivalent of the JD 104,250,000 deferred payments for the renewal of the 900 MHz spectrum 
license which was renewed on May 9, 2019 for an additional 10 years, in accordance with the settlement agreement signed with the 
Government of Jordan during October 2016. 

The Group has calculated the cash price equivalent of the deferred payments amounting to JD 86,595,425 using a discount rate of 4%, 
which represents the average borrowing rate for the Group at the date of the agreement. 

Future payments under the settlement agreement together with the present value of the payments were as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Within one year - -

After one year but not more than five years 52,125,000 52,125,000

More than five years - -

Total payments 52,125,000 52,125,000

Less: amounts representing finance charges (2,408,403) (4,184,296)

Present value of liability 49,716,597 47,940,704
During the year 2022, an amount of JD 1,775,893 was recognised as interest expense on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income (JD 1,775,893 during the year 2021). 
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19. Loans
This item consists of the following:

Loan 
Loan 

Amount
Currency

Annual 
Interest 

Rate
%

Agreement 
Date

Number of 
Instalments 

Principal 
and Interest 

Payment 
Terms

Grace 
Period
Months

Due 
Date

French Government Protocol/ 
Second 

52,000,000 FRF 1.00
23 February 

1995
40 Semi-annual 126 2029

French Government Protocol/ 
Third 

15,000,000 FRF 1.00
24 October 

1996
30 Semi-annual 90 2022

Arab Bank 22,800,000 JD 6.5
24 December 

2017
14 Semi-annual - 2024

Capital Bank 6,000,000 JD 7.35
26 December 

2017
14 Semi-annual - 2024

Housing Bank for Trade and 
Finance

25,000,000 JD 6.375 8 May 2019 10 Semi-annual - 2024

Cairo Amman Bank 20,000,000 JD 6.5 9 May 2019 10 Semi-annual - 2024

The amounts as of the reporting date are as follows:

Loan 

As of December 31, 2022 As of December 31, 2021

Current 
Portion

Non – 
Current 
Portion

Total
Current 
Portion

Non – Current 
Portion

Total

JD JD JD JD JD JD
French Government Protocol/ 
Second 

299,205 909,498 1,208,703 318,169 1,205,920 1,524,089

French Government Protocol/ Third - - - 10,268 - 10,268
Arab Bank 3,258,000 3,252,000 6,510,000 3,258,000 6,510,000 9,768,000
Capital Bank (previously, Societe 
Generale De Banque - Jordanie)

943,719 1,045,154 1,988,873 909,121 1,980,412 2,889,533

Housing Bank for Trade and Finance 4,998,161 5,000,000 9,998,161 4,998,161 10,000,000 14,998,161
Cairo Amman Bank 4,000,000 4,000,000 8,000,000 4,000,000 8,000,000 12,000,000

13,499,085 14,206,652 27,705,737 13,493,719 27,696,332 41,190,051

The amounts of annual principal maturities of non – current portion loans as at December 31, 2022 are as follows:

2023
JD

2024
JD

2025
JD

2026 and after
JD

Total
JD

- 13,623,120 325,966 257,566 14,206,652

The amounts of annual principal maturities of non – current portion loans as at December 31, 2021 are as follows:

2023
JD

2024
JD

2025
JD

2026 and after
JD

Total
JD

13,538,317 13,588,436 318,171 251,408 27,696,332

French Government Protocol /Second Loan
On February 23, 1995 the Government of Jordan, represented by the Ministry of Planning, signed a financial protocol with the Government 
of the Republic of France to finance several development projects including an FRF 52,000,000 loan to finance the construction and 
operation of Tla’a Al-Ali Communication Switch Unit. 

The loan is subject to an annual interest rate of 1% payable on the total amount outstanding from the date of each drawing and shall be 
paid semi-annually. 

The principal payments of each withdrawal is payable in 40 equal semi-annual instalments, the first instalment falling due 126 months after 
the end of the calendar quarter during which each drawing is made. Drawings commenced on July 1, 1995. The repayment of this loan 
started on March 31, 2006.

French Government Protocol / Third Loan
On October 24, 1996 the Government of Jordan represented by the Ministry of Planning signed a financial protocol with the Government 
of the Republic of France to finance several development projects including an FRF 15,000,000 loan to finance the construction of Al-
Ashrafia Communication Switch Unit. 

The loan is subject to an annual interest rate of 1% payable on the total amount outstanding and shall be paid semi-annually. 

The principal payments of each withdrawal are payable in 30 equal consecutive semi-annual instalments, the first instalment falling due 
90 months after the end of the calendar quarter during which each drawing is made. Drawings commenced on July 1, 1997. Repayment 
of this loan started on March 31, 2005.

Arab Bank Loan
On December 24, 2017, Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Company (Orange Mobile) has signed a JD 22,800,000 loan 
agreement with Arab Bank to finance the acquisition of frequency license (10 + 10 MHz) in 2600 MHz band. 

The floating interest rate on the loan 6.50%, which represents the prime lending rate for the bank minus 3%, and it is calculated and paid 
on a monthly basis over the utilized balance. 

The utilized loan balance is payable in 14 equal semi-annual instalments, the first instalment was due and paid on 30 June 2018 and the 
final instalment is due in seven years from the date of the loan agreement. The loan is secured by Jordan Telecommunications Company.

Capital Bank Loan (previously, Societe Generale De Banque – Jordanie)
On December 26, 2017, Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Company (Orange Mobile) has signed a JD 6,000,000 loan 
agreement with Societe Generale De Banque – Jordanie to finance the acquisition of frequency license (10 + 10 MHz) in 2600 MHz band. 

The floating interest rate on the loan is 7.35%, and it is calculated and paid on a monthly basis over the utilized balance. 
 
The utilized loan balance is payable in 14 equal semi-annual instalments, the first instalment was due and paid on June 30, 2019 and the 
final instalment is due in seven years from the date of the loan agreement.

The Housing Bank for Trade and Finance Loan
On May 8, 2019, Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Company (Orange Mobile) has signed a JD 25,000,000 loan agreement 
with The Housing Bank for Trade and Finance to finance the first instalment of the 900MHz spectrum license. The interest rate is fixed at 
6.375% and is calculated and paid on a semi-annual basis. 

The utilized loan balance is payable in 10 equal semi-annual instalments, the first instalment was due and paid on November 7, 2019. This 
loan is secured by Jordan Telecommunications Company.
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Cairo Amman Bank Loan
On May 8, 2019, Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Company (Orange Mobile) signed a JD 20,000,000 loan agreement with 
Cairo Amman Bank to finance the first instalment of the 900MHz spectrum license. The interest rate is fixed at 6.5% and is calculated and 
paid on a semi-annual basis. 

The utilized loan balance is payable in 10 equal semi-annual instalments, the first instalment was due and paid on November 7, 2019. This 
loan is secured by Jordan Telecommunications Company.

20. Employees’ End of Service Benefits
During May 2011, the Group signed an agreement with the General Trade Union for Public Services and Free Vocations whereby the 
Group shall provide additional benefits to the employees which include the option for all employees to liquidate their end of service benefit 
accumulated up to December 31, 2011 during 2012 with an option of either to accumulate the end of service benefits again starting from 
January 1, 2012 or have the benefit added to their monthly salary. 

In accordance with the Group’s by-laws, the Group provides end of service benefits for its employees who have chosen the option to 
accumulate the end of service benefits starting from January 1, 2012. 

The movements on end of service benefits were as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Provision at 1 January 546,079 523,521

Expenses for the year 48,096 81,157

End of service benefits paid (153,005) (58,599)

Provision at December 31 441,170 546,079

The allocation for the Employees’ end of service benefits between current and non-current were as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Employees’ end of service benefits – current 24,491 87,113
Employees’ end of service benefits – non-current 416,679 458,966

441,170 546,079

21. Orange Money – units in circulation
This account represents customers’ electronic unit accounts in Petra Mobile Payment Service Company (Orange Money). Orange Money 
is a money transfer and payment solution through an electronic money (e-units) account that can be initiated using a valid mobile phone 
number. 

Customers’ account balances of e-units in circulation amounted to JD 14,922,325 As at December 31, 2022 (JD 8,936,368 As at 
December 31, 2021). 

As per the Central Bank of Jordan’s requirements, the Company is required to deposit an amount that equals the e-units in circulation to 
restricted bank account which is monitored by the Central Bank of Jordan (note 14).

22. Trade Payables and Other Current Liabilities
The details of this item are as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Trade payables 66,181,439 57,948,178

Other provisions 5,541,600 48,524,479

Accrued expenses 19,947,220 19,684,918

Subscribers’ deposits 16,208,918 16,592,867

Government revenue share payable 6,449,952 4,592,106

Amounts due to related parties (note 27) 8,243,724 8,267,021

Dividends payable 1,288,795 1,325,161

Restricted grants* (note 14) 94,879 1,430,750

Capital reduction payable to shareholders 174,801 204,743

124,131,328 158,570,223
* The Group obtained four grants (two in 2020 and two in 2021) for the purpose of providing funding to promote Jordan Telecom’s 
innovation initiatives, including the Group’s coding academy and other academic programs. The Grants are restricted as per the conditions 
of the contracts. The details of the Grants were as follows:

EU Grant
During 2020, Jordan Telecommunications Company signed a Grant agreement with the European Union (EU) to fund an Innovation Space 
which promotes innovation culture, providing a space for innovation opportunities both virtually and physically, private sector innovation 
advice, support and financing. The EU Grant provides the Group with EURO 6,400,000 over three years. In December 2020, the Group 
received the first payment amounting to EURO 1,656,450. The Grant is restricted to conditions specified in the agreement. 

GIZ Grant
During 2020, Future Pioneers for Developments and Initiatives (Orange Foundation) signed a Grant agreement with Deutsche Gesellschaft 
für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) to fund Orange Digital Center which promotes creating an innovation ecosystem for young 
entrepreneurs in enhancing job-related digital skills, their employability, and thus contributing to reduce youth unemployment in Jordan. 
The (GIZ) Grant provides the Group with EURO 591,000 over two and a half years. In December 2020, the Group received the first 
payment amounting to EURO 269,461. The Grant is restricted to conditions specified in the agreement. 

ISSF Fund Grant
During 2021, Jordan Telecommunications Company signed a Grant agreement with the Innovative Startups and SMEs Fund (ISSF) to fund 
an AI Incubator, which promotes startups at the ideation stage through skill building, product development and access to opportunity. The 
(ISSF) Grant provides the Group with USD 250,000 over three years. In October 2021, the Group received the first payment amounting to 
USD 112,500. the Grant is restricted to conditions specified in the agreement. 
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Orange Corporate Foundation Grants
1. During 2020, Future Pioneers for Development and Initiatives signed a Grant agreement with the Orange Corporate Foundation to 

fund three Women’s Digital Centers program under The Hashemite Fund for Human Development. The program is for the social and 
professional integration of women with no qualification, no employment and living in poverty in the countries where the Orange Group 
operates. This program aims to foster the women’s economic empowerment through digital skills training. It is based on providing 
digital equipment, educational content and training courses. The Orange Foundation Grant provides Future Pioneers with Euro 25,000 
for one year received during 2021, the Grant is restricted to conditions specified in the agreement. 

2. During 2021, Future Pioneers for Development and Initiatives signed a Grant agreement with the Orange Corporate Foundation to 
enable the country foundation to help acquire vaccines, medical equipment, and support public initiatives of local healthcare policies in 
order to step up the fight against the pandemic. The Orange Foundation Grant provides Future Pioneers with Euro 75,000 for one year. 
During 2021, Future Pioneers received the payment of Euro 75,000. The Grant is restricted to conditions specified in the agreement

23. Customer contracts
a. Revenue
Revenue is broken down by type of customers and product line as follows:

Voice Services
Voice services revenues are generated through incoming and outgoing calls on mobile network in addition to revenues from fixed 
narrowband services including roaming revenues from customers of other networks (national and international), and from network sharing.

Data Services 
Data services revenues are generated from providing communication facilities for the provision of data network and internet access 
services on both fixed and mobile networks.

Other Services
Other services revenues represent all equipment sales (mobile phones, broadband equipment, connected objects and accessories) 
revenues from infrastructure services, applications services, security services, sales of equipment and mobile payment services related to 
the above products and services.

The details of revenues per type of customer and revenue were as follows:

For the year ended December 31, 2022
Consumer Business

Unit
JD

Enterprise Business
Unit
JD

Whole Sales Business 
Unit
JD

Total
Revenues

JD
Voice services 75,056,291 32,173,145 36,054,445 143,283,881

Data services 137,808,175 25,504,746 9,218,526 172,531,447

Other services 10,843,832 17,138,021 3,770,695 31,752,548

223,708,298 74,815,912 49,043,666 347,567,876

For the year ended December 31, 2021
Consumer Business

Unit
JD

Enterprise Business
Unit
JD

Whole Sales Business 
Unit
JD

Total
Revenues

JD
Voice services 76,456,794 33,548,166 40,502,823 150,507,783

Data services 126,519,015 25,205,441 9,157,397 160,881,853

Other services 7,560,388 11,413,815 3,100,807 22,075,010

210,536,197 70,167,422 52,761,027 333,464,646

The details of revenues per timing of revenue recognition were as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

At a point in time 247,871,025 236,145,191

Overtime 99,696,851 97,319,455

347,567,876 333,464,646

b.  Contract Assets
Pursuant to IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” application and due to the timing of revenue recognition that may differ 
from that of customer invoicing which is mainly related to the bundled offering combining the sale of a equipment and other services for a 
fixed-period, where the equipment is invoiced at a reduced price leading to the reallocation of a portion of amounts invoiced for the other 
services to the supply of the equipment. The excess of the amount allocated to the equipment over the price invoiced is recognized as a 
contract asset.

Movements on the contract assets were as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

As of January 1, 3,131,370 3,112,457
Additions 3,300,335 3,242,761
Amortization (3,177,066) (3,223,848)
As of December 31, 3,254,639 3,131,370

The allocation of the short and long-term contract assets was as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Non-current portion of contract assets 703,693 682,732
Current portion of contract assets 2,550,946 2,448,638

3,254,639 3,131,370

Set out below the maturities pattern of the long-term contract assets:

JD
2024 683,958
2025 19,735

703,693

c. Contract Liabilities
Contract liabilities represent amounts paid by customers before receiving the goods and/or services promised in the contract. This is 
typically the case for advances received from customers or amounts invoiced and paid for goods or services not yet transferred, such as 
contracts payable in advance or prepaid packages.

The allocation of short and long term contract liabilities is as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Non-current portion of contract liabilities - 19,098

Current portion of contract liabilities 11,257,771 10,575,894

11,257,771 10,594,992
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24. Government Revenue Share 
In accordance with the agreement signed with the Telecommunications Regulatory Commission (TRC), a percentage of certain 
telecommunications services revenues is payable to TRC as revenue share.

25. Business Support Fees and Brand Fees
The Group calculates and pays business support fees to Orange Group, in accordance with the agreement signed between the Group 
and Orange Group.

During July 2007, the Group entered into a license agreement with Orange Brand Services Limited whereby, Jordan Telecommunications 
Company, Petra Jordanian Mobile Telecommunications Company and Jordan Data Communications were granted the right to use Orange 
brand in Jordan in return for royalty fees at 1.6% of the operating revenues as defined in the agreement. The license agreement is valid for 
10 years. The agreement has been renewed for a period of 10 years starting from July 2017. 

26. Earnings Per Share  
The details of this item are as follows:

2022 2021

Profit for the year attributable to the equity holders of parent (JD) 44,031,028 26,124,291

Weighted average number of shares during the year 187,500,000 187,500,000

Basic earnings per share 0.235 0.139

No figure for diluted earnings per share has been calculated as there are no potentially dilutive ordinary shares outstanding.

27. Related Party Disclosures 
Related parties are shareholders, senior management of the Group, and companies of which they are principal owners. Pricing policies 
and terms of these transactions are according to the commercial practices.

The sales to and purchases from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. Outstanding 
balances at the year-end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash.

Balances and transactions with related parties included in the consolidated statements of financial positions and consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, respectively, were as follows:

2022
JD

2021
JD

Consolidated statement of financial position:
Government of Jordan and Orange Group and its subsidiaries 
(shareholder)
Amounts due from related parties 3,535,900 3,858,926

Amounts due to related parties 10,597,847 9,476,127

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

Orange Group and its subsidiaries (shareholder)

Business support fees and brand fees 7,842,328 7,811,925

Operating expenses 10,087,260 8,872,115

Revenues 5,277,387 5,450,238

Government of Jordan 

Government revenue share 6,449,952 4,592,106

Revenues 9,094,027 14,430,338

Key management personnel

Executives’ salaries and bonus 1,887,744 1,737,321

Board of Directors remuneration 226,563 225,650
Balances due from and to related parties are disclosed in notes 12, 13 and 22 to these consolidated financial statements.

28. Agreement with Telecommunication Regulatory Commission
During January 2022, the Group has been notified by the Telecommunications Regulatory Commission (TRC) of the Prime Minister 
decision which was been issued on December 29, 2021, aiming to develop integrated reform bundle “to restructure the Telecom Sector”, 
while taking into consideration the appropriate solutions to remedy the confronted challenges and obstacles which will contribute in 
Increase the investment in telecom infrastructure expansion /development, internet services, broadband services and technologies, in 
addition to support penetration growth, usage variety to serve individuals and enterprises, and digital economy support, where the 
telecom companies represent one of the most important success pillars to complete the digital transformation in addition to introducing 5G 
technologies roll out in the Kingdom, which will produce a quantum leap in the economic growth and Increase the sector job opportunities.

Therefore, the TRC in coordination with the Ministry of Digital Economy and Entrepreneurship, has been delegated to implement the 
proposed bundle with the Telecom Operators, which consist of the following:
1. Start with settlement agreement, in coordination with legal advisor office, to settle the revenue share issues between the TRC and the 
Operators. 
2. Stop all legal proceedings in front of Courts which are related to disputes for the revenue share until the settlement agreement is signed 
or continue with these proceedings.
3. To calculate the revenue share amounts from accounting firm for the years from 2000 to 2020, in order to determine the final amounts 
for settlement on a 50% basis.
4. To extend spectrum and individual licenses validities for additional 10 years, therefore, the total license validity shall become 25 years, to 
be in line with the international practice, without changing the value of these licenses with a possibility to extend for further 5 years based 
on a specific criterion which will be evaluated after 3 years from the date of Settlement agreement signature.
5. Grant the operator’s spectrum licenses in the 3500MHz band (5G), with 100MHz per each operator, for 25 years, with operators’ 
commitment to start launching within 18 months, and to cover 50% of population within a period not exceeding 4 years from the spectrum 
grant date.
6. Conversion of 2100 MHz spectrum band into a technology neutral band.
The agreement has been signed on August 11, 2022 and became effective from September 6, 2022 after fulfilling all the needed 
requirements as per the agreement. Therefore, the summary of the impact as following:

December 31, 2022 
JD

Revenue share settlement 42,648,328

Intangible assets – 5G spectrum 30,000,000

Total 72,648,328

Upfront payment at 50%* 36,324,164

Remaining liability amounts 36,324,164
* From this amount, the Group has paid only JD 15,724,164 after netting the deposit amount at TRC by JD 20,600,000 as per the 
agreement.
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The remaining liability amounts is due over seven equal annual installments of JD 5,189,166 with 5% interest rate. Furthermore, the agreed 
on legal cases have been dropped as well.

The impact of the agreement on the Condensed Consolidated Interim Statement of Financial Position were as following:
December 31, 2022 

JD
Non-Current Assets

Intangible assets – 5G spectrum 30,000,000

Capitalization of the annual frequency fees at present value* 19,742,336

Total assets 49,742,336

Non-Current Liabilities

Other telecommunications license payable – 5G spectrum 31,134,998

5G spectrum deferred annual frequency fees at present value* 20,042,612

Total non-current liabilities 51,177,610

Current Liabilities

Other telecommunications license payable - 5G spectrum 5,189,166

Total liability 56,366,776
*  This amount represents the cash price equivalent of the JD 44 million deferred payments for the annual license fees for “5G services” 
of JD 2 million per year during the license period, the Group has calculated the cash price equivalent of the deferred payments using a 
discount rate of 6%, which represents the average borrowing rate for the Group at the date of the agreement. 

The impact on the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income were as following:
December 31, 2022 

JD
Reduction of amortization of intangible assets – useful life extension 4,317,052

Reversal of the revenue share provisions ** 18,868,256

Total 23,185,308
** The Group has reversed the excess provisions that were booked during prior years related to government revenue sharing as a result of 
settling the court cases below and the fact that the agreement includes the payment of only 50% of calculated revenue sharing, also the 
agreement includes offsetting the value of deposit amount that were paid to TRC during the prior years.

29. Commitments and Contingences
Capital commitments
The Group enters into commitments during the ordinary course of business for major capital expenditures, primarily in connection 
with network expansion projects. Outstanding capital expenditure amounted to JD 26,823,248  as of December 31, 2022 (2021: JD 
29,037,735).

Operational commitments
The Group entered into a 6-year sponsorship commitment. Outstanding operational expenditure amounted to JD 1,500,000 as of 
December 31, 2022 (2021: JD 3,000,000).

Legal claims
The Group is a defendant in a number of lawsuits with a value of JD 10,566,481 as of December 31, 2022 (December 31, 2021: JD 
22,488,728) representing legal actions and claims in the ordinary course of business. Related risks have been analyzed as to likelihood of 
occurrence. Accordingly, a provision of JD 2,038,985 has been made (2021: JD 10,038,985). 

During July 2019 the Group was notified of a lawsuit that was filed against the Group by another telecom operator relating to the 
fixed geographic numbers services. The Group has submitted its list of defense documents to the court. In the opinion of the Group’s 
management and legal consultant the Group’s position is strong and no provision is needed at this stage of the litigation.

The amount of legal cases as of December 31, 2021, above includes claims from the Telecommunications Regulatory Commission 
regarding differences in calculating the Government’s revenue share for the years from 2000 to 2005. These cases were settled according 
to the agreement mentioned in Note (28).

Guarantees
The Group has issued letters of guarantee amounting to JD 11,758,167 as of December 31, 2022 (2021: JD 21,693,522) in respect of 
legal claims and performance bonds. 

30. Risk Management

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt 
obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its interest bearing assets and liabilities (bank deposits, bank overdraft and term loans).

The sensitivity of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the 
Group’s profit for one year, based on the floating rate financial assets and financial liabilities held of December 31, 2022.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the statement of comprehensive income to reasonably possible changes in interest 
rates, with all other variables held constant. 

Currency
Effect on profit for the year by changing the interest rate by 1%

2022
JD

2021
JD

JD 42,268 (69,528)

USD 475 3,797

EUR 68 72
The effect of decrease in interest rate is expected to be equal and opposite to the effect of increases shown.

Credit risk
The credit risk is the risk that other parties will fail to discharge their obligations to the Group. The Group manages credit risk with its 
customers by establishing credit limits for customers’ balances and also disconnects the service for customers exceeding certain limits 
for a certain period of time. Also, the diversity of the Group’s customer base (residential, corporate, government agencies) limits the credit 
risk. The Group also has a credit department that continuously monitors the credit status of the Group’s customers.

The Group deposits its cash balances with a number of major high rated financial institutions and has a policy of limiting its balances 
deposited with each institution.
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Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk of a shortage of funds by performing analysis for cash projection in addition to performing a detailed analysis of 
accounts payables. The Group’s current liabilities exceed its current assets. Management has assessed the liquidity risk associated with 
having the negative working capital and based on the analysis the management believes that the Group is not subject to a significant risk, 
in addition to the fact that the Group can manage its cash demands through the use of bank overdrafts and bank loans.

The table below summarizes the maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities at December 31, 2022 and 2021, based on contractual 
undiscounted payment.

December 31, 2022
Less than
3 months

JD

3 to 12
months

JD

1 to 5
Years

JD
> 5 years

JD
Total
JD

Trade creditors and amounts due to related parties 33,019,209 29,447,533 12,491,356 5,008,666 79,966,764

Telecommunications licenses payable - - 52,125,000 - 52,125,000

Balances due to telecom operators 14,620,019 2,126,261 5,016,065 - 21,762,345

Loans 100,493 15,502,933 29,687,112 40,460 45,330,998

Lease liabilities 5,836,949 2,589,762 24,753,824 20,894,524 54,075,059

Renewable energy liability - 5,031,462 16,856,234 43,671,648 65,559,344

Total 53,576,670 54,697,951 140,929,591 69,615,298 318,819,510

December 31, 2021
Less than
3 months

JD

3 to 12
months

JD

1 to 5
Years

JD
> 5 years

JD
Total
JD

Trade creditors and amounts due to related parties 30,390,364 31,595,196 42,764,034 9,747,776 114,497,370

Telecommunications licenses payable - - 52,125,000 - 52,125,000

Balances due to telecom operators 12,135,074 1,402,031 4,908,424 - 18,445,529

Loans 101,457 15,901,583 45,044,675 78,023 61,125,738

Lease liabilities 5,441,128 2,414,142 23,122,499 18,928,218 49,905,987

Renewable energy liability - 4,306,468 16,986,403 48,157,977 69,450,848

Total 48,068,023 55,619,420 184,951,035 76,911,994 365,550,472

Currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange 
rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Group’s operating activities (when 
revenue or expense is denominated in a foreign currency). 

Most of the Group’s transactions are in Jordanian Dinars and U.S. Dollars. The Jordanian Dinar exchange rate is fixed against the U.S. 
Dollar (US $ 1.41 for JD 1).

The Group has loans payable in Euros and short term deposits in Euros. Changes in Euro exchange rates may significantly affect the loans 
values.

The table below indicates the effect of a reasonably possible movement in the JD rate against foreign currencies on the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, with all other variables held constant.

Currency

Effect on profit for the year by changing the ex-change rate by 5%

2022
JD

2021
JD

EUR (24,441) (24,381)
The effect of decrease in Euro rate is expected to be equal and opposite to the increase shown.

Capital Risk Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support its business 
and maximize shareholder value.  

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in business conditions.

Capital comprises share capital, statutory reserve and retained earnings, and is measured at JD 298,389,097 as of December 31, 2022 
(JD 281,358,069 as of December 31, 2022).
 
31. Fair Values of Financial Instruments
Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities.

Financial assets consist of cash and short-term deposits, receivables and some other current assets. Financial liabilities consist of term 
loans, payables and some other current liabilities.

The fair values of financial instruments are not materially different from their carrying values.

32. Comparative Figures
The 2021 figures have been reclassified in order to conform to the presentations in 2022. Such reclassification does not affect previously 
reported profit or equity.
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Future Vision 

As a responsible digital leader, Orange Jordan achieved key milestones moving in the same direction as the global group’s strategic plan, 
Lead the future.

We will continue to build on our strengths to generate more value, alongside deploying and capitalizing on our core business to keep 
ensuring unmatched customer experience, supported by our robust networks, advanced digital solutions, and applications.

Employees remain a priority for us, as we support their growth through career development and skills-building programs. Moreover, 
inclusion and diversity stand firm in our future-facing work environment.

Building on our strong financial and operational performance in recent years, Orange Jordan will remain a competitive player in the market 
and maintain a healthy financial position. We seek to sustain steady revenue growth in mobile and fixed and increase profitability by 
enhancing network infrastructure, expanding the customer base, and innovating new products and services.

In terms of investments, we will focus on deploying the 5G network and expanding fiber coverage with a great emphasis on reduced costs, 
to ensure better returns for shareholders.

To achieve our ambitions, we will launch and scale new growth engines, in addition to embracing a new company model guided by 
responsibility and efficiency. Transforming Orange Business will be key to accelerating growth in the enterprise segment and further 
strengthening our position in cybersecurity.

We are entering a new era where Orange will embed Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) in every area of our business model to 
enhance risk mitigation, opportunity optimization, and sustainability.  

Orange Jordan is honoring its commitment to the planet by working to meet our zero-carbon goal by 2040 and become a green company.
With our digital programs’ remarkable expansion, we look forward to empowering more people and communities to collaborate, innovate, 
and drive sustainable development.

Our vision for the future is shaped by our belief that business performance cannot exist, nor thrive, without responsibility that translates 
into actions.


